
Audit Committee
Thursday 24th October 2019

10.00 am

Main Committee Room, 
Council Offices,Brympton Way, 
Yeovil, BA20 2HT

(disabled access and a hearing loop are available at this meeting venue)  

The following members are requested to attend the meeting:

Chairman: Martin Carnell
Vice-chairman: Mike Hewitson

Robin Bastable
Mike Best
Dave Bulmer

Malcolm Cavill
Brian Hamilton
Paul Maxwell

Robin Pailthorpe
1 Vacancy
Derek Yeomans (Independent Member)

If you would like any further information on the items to be discussed, please contact 
the Case Services Officer (Support Services) on 01935 462038 or 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk 

This Agenda was issued on Wednesday 16 October 2019.

Alex Parmley, Chief Executive Officer

This information is also available on our website
www.southsomerset.gov.uk and via the mod.gov app

Public Document Pack

http://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/


Information for the Public

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the 
risk management framework and the associated control environment, independent scrutiny of 
the authority’s financial and non-financial performance, to the extent that it affects the authority’s 
exposure to risk and weakens the control environment and to oversee the financial reporting 
process.

The Audit Committee should review the Code of Corporate Governance seeking assurance 
where appropriate from the Executive or referring matters to management on the scrutiny 
function.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are:

Internal Audit Activity

1. To approve the Internal Audit Charter and annual Internal Audit Plan;

2. To receive quarterly summaries of Internal Audit reports and seek assurance from 
management that action has been taken;

3. To receive an annual summary report and opinion, and consider the level of assurance it 
provides on the council’s governance arrangements; 

4. To monitor the action plans for Internal Audit reports assessed as “partial” or “no 
assurance;”

5. To consider specific internal audit reports as requested by the Head of Internal Audit, and 
monitor the implementation of agreed management actions; 

6. To receive an annual report to review the effectiveness of internal audit to ensure 
compliance with statutory requirements and the level of assurance it provides on the 
council’s governance arrangements; 

External Audit Activity

7. To consider and note the annual external Audit Plan and Fees; 

8. To consider the reports of external audit including the Annual Audit Letter and seek 
assurance from management that action has been taken;

Regulatory Framework

9. To consider the effectiveness of SSDC’s risk management arrangements, the control 
environment and associated anti-fraud and corruption arrangements and seek assurance 
from management that action is being taken;

10. To review the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) and monitor associated action 
plans;

11. To review the Local Code of Corporate Governance and ensure it reflects best 
governance practice. This will include regular reviews of part of the Council’s Constitution 
and an overview of risk management;

12. To receive reports from management on the promotion of good corporate governance;

Financial Management and Accounts

13. To review and approve the annual Statement of Accounts, external auditor’s opinion and 
reports to members and monitor management action in response to issues raised;



14. To provide a scrutiny role in Treasury Management matters including regular monitoring 
of treasury activity and practices. The committee will also review and recommend the 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy, MRP 
Strategy, and Prudential Indicators to Council;

15. To review and recommend to Council changes to Financial Procedure Rules and 
Procurement Procedure Rules;

Overall Governance

16. The Audit Committee can request of the Section 151 Officer, the Monitoring Officer, or 
the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Services) a report (including an independent review) 
on any matter covered within these Terms of Reference;

17. The Audit Committee will request action through District Executive if any issue remains 
unresolved;

18. The Audit Committee will report to each full Council a summary of its activities. 

Meetings of the Audit Committee are usually held bi-monthly including at least one meeting with 
the Council’s external auditor, although in practice the external auditor attends more frequently.

Agendas and minutes of this committee are published on the Council’s website at 
www.southsomerset.gov.uk

Agendas and minutes can also be viewed via the mod.gov app (free) available for iPads and 
Android devices. Search for ‘mod.gov’ in the app store for your device and select ‘South 
Somerset’ from the list of publishers and then select the committees of interest. A wi-fi signal will 
be required for a very short time to download an agenda but once downloaded, documents will 
be viewable offline.

Members questions on reports prior to the Meeting

Members of the Committee are requested to contact report authors on points of clarification prior 
to the Committee meeting.

Recording and photography at council meetings

Recording of council meetings is permitted, however anyone wishing to do so should let the 
Chairperson of the meeting know prior to the start of the meeting. The recording should be overt 
and clearly visible to anyone at the meeting, but non-disruptive. If someone is recording the 
meeting, the Chairman will make an announcement at the beginning of the meeting. If anyone 
making public representation does not wish to be recorded they must let the Chairperson know.

The full ‘Policy on Audio/Visual Recording and Photography at Council Meetings’ can be viewed 
online at: 
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of
%20council%20meetings.pdf

Ordnance Survey mapping/map data included within this publication is provided by South Somerset District Council 
under licence from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public function to undertake its statutory functions on 
behalf of the district.  Persons viewing this mapping should contact Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where 
they wish to licence Ordnance Survey mapping/map data for their own use. South Somerset District Council - 
LA100019471 - 2019.

http://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf


Audit Committee

Thursday 24 October 2019

Agenda
Preliminary Items

1.  Minutes (Pages 5 - 10)

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the previous meeting held on 25 July 2019.

2.  Apologies for absence 

3.  Welcome to the new Independent Member on the Audit Committee 

4.  Declarations of Interest 

In accordance with the Council's current Code of Conduct (as amended 26 February 2015), 
which includes all the provisions relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI), personal and 
prejudicial interests, Members are asked to declare any DPI and also any personal interests 
(and whether or not such personal interests are also "prejudicial") in relation to any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting.  

5.  Public question time 

6.  Date of next meeting 

Councillors are requested to note that the next Audit Committee meeting is scheduled to be held 
at 10.00am on Thursday 28 November 2019 in the Main Committee Room, Brympton Way, 
Yeovil.

Items for Discussion

7.  Internal Audit Annual Activity Report 2019/20 (Page 11)

8.  External Audit - Annual Audit Letter (Pages 12 - 27)

9.  2019/20 Treasury Management Mid-Year Performance Report and Strategy 
Update (Pages 28 - 53)

10.  Treasury Management Practices (Pages 54 - 88)

11.  Audit Committee Forward Plan (Pages 89 - 90)



 
 

Audit DRAFT MINUTES  25.07.19 

 

South Somerset District Council 
 
Draft Minutes of a meeting of the Audit Committee held in the Main Committee 
Room, Brympton Way, Yeovil on Thursday 25 July 2019. 

(10.00 am  - 11.35 am) 
 
Present: 
 
Members: Councillor Martin Carnell (Chairman) 
 
Robin Bastable 
Mike Best 
Dave Bulmer 
Malcolm Cavill 

Brian Hamilton 
Paul Maxwell 
Robin Pailthorpe 

 
 
Officers  
 
Netta Meadows Director (Strategy & Support Services) 
Kelly Wheeler Case Services Officer (Support Services) 
Paul Fitzgerald Section 151 Officer 
Catherine Hood Finance Specialist 
 
Also Present: 
 
Barrie Morris 
David Johnson 

Key Audit Partner, Grant Thornton 
Engagement Manager, Grant Thornton 

 

 

12. Minutes (Agenda Item 1) 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting, held on Thursday 27th June 2019, copies of which 
had been circulated, were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.  
 
The Director  - Strategy and Support Services advised that the previous minutes 
contained actions in relation to the use of the Skyguard system for members. As an 
update to this, she advised that the options were currently being considered. In response 
to a specific question raised at the previous meeting, she advised that the Skyguard 
system held data for 62 days. Once data had been held for 62 days, it would be deleted.  
 

 

13. Apologies for absence (Agenda Item 2) 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Mike Hewitson and Councillor 
Louise Clarke. 

 
In the absence of Councillor Mike Hewitson, the Chairman nominated that Councillor 
Paul Maxwell join him as Vice Chairman for the duration of the meeting. It was agreed by 
members and it was resolved that Councillor Mike Hewitson would act as Vice-
Chairman. 
 

 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



 

 
 

Audit DRAFT MINUTES  25.07.19 

 

14. Declarations of Interest (Agenda Item 3) 
 
There were no declarations of interest made by Members.  
 

 

15. Public question time (Agenda Item 4) 
 
A member of the public addressed the Committee. She expressed her thanks to the 
Lead Finance Specialist for spending time answering her questions in relation to the 
Statement of Accounts. She also suggested that the external auditor fees were low given 
the amount of work involved and suggested that the level of specialist input would 
increase in line with the Commercial Strategy.  
 
She also added that the hearing loop in the meeting room was of poor quality.  
 

 

16. Date of next meeting (Agenda Item 5) 
 
Members noted that the next meeting of the Audit Committee was scheduled for 10am 
on Thursday 24th October  in the Main Committee Room, Brympton Way, Yeovil.  
 

 

17. 2018/19 Annual Governance Statement (Agenda Item 6) 
 
The Section 151 Officer introduced the report. He explained to members that the Annual 
Governance Statement was an annual report which was required in line with financial 
regulations. He also advised that this report was presented alongside the annual 
statement of accounts which were a later item on the agenda.  
 
The Section 151 Officer advised that he had considered best practice ways to present 
the information to ensure that the information was clear and accessible in terms of 
readability, whilst being concise with all issues and challenges detailed. He added that 
any feedback to the readability and presentation of the report would be welcome. 
 
He explained to members that the report provided an overview of the systems and 
processes and how these were conducted. The arrangements for how clear and 
transparent decisions were made was summarised within the report, adding that these 
processes were assessed annually.  
 
He explained to members that the effectiveness of the governance arrangements were 
assessed each year with the involvement of internal and external audit and the Audit 
Committee.  
 
He pointed out the diagram on page 10, which summarised the Governance Assurance 
Framework. He also pointed out that areas of focus, where action or improvement was 
required, were noted in the conclusion of the report.   
 
He clarified that the Senior Leadership Team had overseen the review of this statement 
and that it had been signed off by the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive 
Officer.  
 
In response to a question from a member in relation to the Transformation Programme, 
the Director – Strategy and Support Services, advised that a quarterly update had been 

Page 6



 

 
 

Audit DRAFT MINUTES  25.07.19 

 

delivered to District Executive recently to update members on the progress of the 
programme. She also pointed out that Scrutiny Committee had considered this update 
report. Since the Transformation Update report had been published, she added that 
recruitment had begun to relieve capacity issues in some areas, following the approval 
for additional funds to support this. She also added that meetings with Civica were 
ongoing to try to resolve the technology issues.  
 
During the discussion, some members commented that the report had been clear and 
easy to read.  
 
The Section 151 Officer advised that the report had been published on the website that 
he had not received any feedback from the public, however advised that no formal 
testing had been carried out. 
 
In response to a question from a member, the Section 151 Officer advised that regular 
reports ensure that members are informed about the progress of the Commercial 
Strategy. He added that the auditors had reviewed both the decision-making process 
and the governance arrangements for the strategy. The feedback from the auditors was 
positive and clarified that members receive 6-monthy update reports on the progress of 
the Commercial Strategy.   
 
It was proposed and seconded that the 2018/19 Annual Governance Statement be 
approved.  
 
On being put to the vote, this was carried unanimously.  
 
RESOLVED: That members approved the 2018/19 Annual Governance Statement. 
 

(voting: unanimous) 
 

 

18. Audit Findings Report 2018/19 (Agenda Item 7) 
 
Barrie Morris (Key Audit Partner, Grant Thornton) presented the report as detailed in the 
agenda. He highlighted key headlines which were detailed on page 22 of the agenda, 
advising that there was still some outstanding work to be completed on the Financial 
Statements, which related to debtors. He explained that once the signed Letter of 
Representation had been received, an unmodified audit opinion would be provided 
before the 31st July. The unqualified ‘Value for Money’ conclusion would also be issued 
before the end of July.   
 
He reminded members that they worked to the concept of materiality rather than looking 
at all figures in the accounts. Materiality was set at 2% of gross expenditure. He 
confirmed that matters which were under £76,500 which were considered to a be a trivial 
matter were not reported. The only exception to this was Senior Officers’ remuneration, 
which was set to £20,000.  
 
He referred to the significant risks detailed on page 24 of the agenda.  
 
He explained that the fraudulent transaction risk could been rebutted as there was little 
incentive to manipulate this revenue and that a robust system was in place to ensure that 
this could not occur and therefore following assessments, there were no issues.  
 

Page 7



 

 
 

Audit DRAFT MINUTES  25.07.19 

 

The second significant finding identified was the Management override of controls. He 
explained that a robust controlling environment had been created and that procedures 
had been carried out to check compliance. He advised that there were no issues.  
 
He explained that valuation of property, plant and equipment had been identified as a 
significant finding. He explained that the correct recording of these assets within the 
accounts required additional work to ensure that the valuations were appropriate, 
however explained that there were no issues.  
 
He pointed out that a significant amount of estimations were represented in the valuation 
of pension fund net liability, however no issues were identified.  
 
He advised that since the report had been published, the ‘Provisions for NNDR Appeals’ 
had now been completed satisfactorily. He summarised the significant findings – key 
judgements and estimates, which were detailed on pages 26-28 of the agenda.  
 
He explained that the SSDC Opium Power venture had been discussed with 
management and was now able to confirm that the disclosures within the statements of 
accounts were appropriate.  
 
He referred to the McCloud judgement which related to pensions. He advised that he 
considered that there was no risk of material error to the pension fund.  
 
He confirmed that he was confident that the going concern assumption was appropriate 
for the authority’s financial statements and that SSDC were in a robust position.  
 
He had no further issues to bring to the attention of the Committee. 
 
In response to a member’s question, the S151 Officer advised that a group of trustees 
oversaw the pension fund and that they had a duty to protect and manage this fund. He 
added that this was managed by Somerset County Council. He suggested that this was 
being well-managed and was subject to valuations and estimates. He had not been 
made aware of any specific communications to suggest that there were concerns. He 
added that plans to reduce the deficit in the pension fund was in place and that this 
would be reviewed every three years. He assured members that the fund was separate 
to SCC funds and that these funds could not be drawn to support other financial issues.  
 
In response to a question, the Section 151 Officer advised that the increase in 
investment properties included properties which were already owned, rather than just 
additional purchases from the last year. He added that the properties for valued annually 
and that new assets were purchased to provide a revenue and were not purchased to 
sell in the near future. He added that the market had tightened slightly and that the value 
of land and properties fluctuate, however these investment properties would be held long 
term. He also confirmed that the total purchase cost included fees such as agent fees 
and solicitor fees.  
 
In response to another question, the Section 151 Officer advised that Opium Power 
Limited was a separate entity from SSDC and that both SSDC and Opium Power Limited 
hold 50% shares in the battery plant. He explained that funds had been lent to Opium 
Power Limited and that SSDC would receive full repayment before any profits would be 
distributed. He also pointed out that interest would be payable on the loan to Opium 
Power Limited and was therefore a positive investment.  
 

Page 8



 

 
 

Audit DRAFT MINUTES  25.07.19 

 

David Johnson (Engagement Manager, Grant Thornton) summarised the Value for 
Money element of the report. He referred to the key findings on page 35 and 36 and 
highlighted the overall conclusion on page 36. He explained that these findings had been 
reported District Executive reports and following discussions, it had been concluded that 
appropriate processes were in place to achieve value for money.  
 
He also drew members attention to the action plan detailed on page 38 and the 
responses which had been provided.  
 
He referred to the recommendation detailed on page 39 and explained that only two 
assets had been re-evaluated and were not classified incorrectly. He also summarised 
the audit adjustments summarised on pages 40-41.   
 
The Key Audit Partner, Grant Thornton, summarised the audit fees and explained that 
these were reviewed annually.  
 
In response to a question from a member, the Director – Strategy and Support Services, 
explained that ways to communicate details around investment properties and updates 
to the Commercial Strategy could be communicated to members was being considered. 
She suggested that the members portal could be an option to support this. She also 
explained that the role of the Scrutiny Committee enabled any decisions to be reviewed.  
 
Some members agreed that it would be useful to receive news updates to the 
Commercial Strategy through the members portal.  
 
In response to a question from a member of the Scrutiny Committee member, the 
Director – Strategy and Support, advised that the governance around the Commercial 
Strategy and investments had been agreed by Full Council in July 2017 and assured her 
regarding the role of the Audit Committee and Scrutiny Committee and how they were 
different functions. She added that she would advise against a joint meeting looking at 
Commercial issues between Audit and Scrutiny as both committees have very different 
roles.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Audit Committee noted: 
 

 the matters identified in the Audit Findings Report 2018/19 and the draft audit 
findings as outlined in section 2 of two of the report.  
 

 the opinion of the financial arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the authorities use of resources, as stated in appendix E. 
 

 the Chair of Audit Committee would write to the Chair of Scrutiny to explore ways 
of working on commercial issues. 

 

 

19. Statement of Accounts 2018/19 (Agenda Item 8) 
 
The Specialist (Finance) introduced the report that presented the 2018/19 Statement of 
Accounts to Audit Committee for approval.  
 
She explained to members that the Statement of Accounts had been prepared following 
International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the Local Authority 

Page 9



 

 
 

Audit DRAFT MINUTES  25.07.19 

 

Code of Practice. She added that this statement had been completed before the 
deadline.  
 
She explained to members that an accounting adjustment had been made to the total 
income and expenditure detailed on page 85, however this had been explained in note 7 
on page 92.  
 
One member commented that it might have been useful having the balance sheet at the 
beginning of the report, rather than the end. 
 
In response to this, the Section 151 Officer advised that best practice recommended the 
order which had been followed, however agreed that it was not an easy document to 
read. He added that CIPFA were considering ways to make the document easier for the 
public to read.  
 
Members commented that the recent Statement of Accounts training which had been 
provided had been useful.  
 
The Section 151 Officer offered his thanks to the Finance Team, to the wider Council 
and to the auditors. He explained that the quality of the accounts was good and was 
pleased to have received a positive unqualified opinion.  
 
It was proposed and seconded the Statement of Accounts 2018/19 should be approved 
as detailed in the agenda report.  
 
A vote was taken to note the external auditor’s unqualified opinion, approved the 
2018/19 Statement of Accounts and to authorise the Section 151 Officer to sign the 
Letter of Representation. This was carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the Audit Committee: 
 

 Noted the external auditor’s unqualified opinion on the financial statements. 

 Approved the 2018/19 Statement of Accounts. 

 Authorised the Section 151 Officer to sign the letter of representation. 
 

(voting: unanimous) 
 

 

20. Audit Committee Forward Plan (Agenda Item 9) 
 
Members noted the Audit Committee Forward Plan. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 …………………………………….. 

Chairman 

Page 10



Internal Audit Annual Activity Report 2019/20

Head of Service: Dave Hill, Chief Executive - SWAP
Lead Officer: Alastair Woodland - Assistant Director
Contact Details: Alastair.Woodland@swapaudit.co.uk

Please note -  The report of Internal Audit Activity will follow as a separate document. 

Purpose of the Report

To update members on the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 progress and bring to their attention any 
significant findings identified through our work. The report aims to provide assurance to the Audit 
Committee regarding the effectiveness of the control environment operated by and on behalf of the 
council and highlight any significant matters to be addressed by management. 

Recommendation

Members are asked to note progress made in delivery of the 2019/20 internal audit plan and note the 
significant findings that have been identified since the previous update in June 2019.

Background

The Internal Audit function plays a central role in corporate governance by providing assurance to the 
Audit Committee over the effectiveness of internal controls, governance and risk management. The 
2019-20 Annual Audit Plan was approved by the Audit Committee at its March 2019 meeting and is to 
provide independent and objective assurance on SSDC’s Internal Control Environment and this work 
will support the Annual Governance Statement.  

Financial Implications

There are no financial implications associated with these recommendations.  

Background Papers: None

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



External Audit - Annual Audit Letter

Director: Netta Meadows, Strategy & Support Services
Lead Officers: Paul Fitzgerald, S151 Officer

Catherine Hood, Specialist (Finance) 
Contact Details: paul.fitzgerald@southsomerset.gov.uk or (01935) 462226

catheriine.hood@southsomerset.gov.uk or (01935) 462157

Purpose of the Report
 
1. To summarise the key findings from the external audit work carried out in respect of the 2018/19 

financial year and detail the audit fees charged. 

Recommendation

2. The Audit Committee is asked to note the report and the content of the Annual Audit Letter.

Introduction

3. The review of the Annual Audit Letter is included within the remit of the Audit Committee under its 
terms of reference as follows:

 “To consider the reports of external audit including the Annual Audit Letter and seek 
assurance from management that action has been taken.”

 “To review and approve the annual Statement of Accounts, external auditor’s opinion and 
reports to members and monitor management action in response to issues raised.”

4. The 2018/19 Annual Audit Letter attached to the report confirms:

 An unqualified opinion in respect of the 2018/19 Statement of Accounts.
 The Auditors were satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to 

ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources during 2018/19 
financial year.

 The fees charged for 2018/19 for the statutory audit were £37,943.  Additional fees of 
£4,500, subject to PSAA (Public Sector Audit Appointments) approval due to the scope 
of the audit changing.

Financial Implications

5. There are no financial implications in accepting this report and the associated recommendations.

Background Papers: SSDC Audit Findings Report

Page 12

Agenda Item 8

mailto:paul.fitzgerald@southsomerset.gov.uk
mailto:catheriine.hood@southsomerset.gov.uk


The Annual Audit Letter

for South Somerset District Council

Year ended 31 March 2019

29 August 2019

P
age 13



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive Summary 3

2. Audit of the Financial Statements 5

3. Value for Money conclusion 9

Appendices

A     Reports issued and fees

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Barrie Morris

Key Audit Partner

T:  0117 305 7708

E: barrie.morris@uk.gt.com

David Johnson

Engagement Manager

T: 0117 305 7727

E: david.a.johnson@uk.gt.com

Joanne McCormick

In Charge Accountant

T: 0117 305 7849

E: joanne.m.mccormick@uk.gt.com

P
age 14



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 3

Executive Summary

Purpose

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the 

work that we have carried out at South Somerset District Council (the 

Council) for the year ended 31 March 2019.  

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to 

the Council and external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to 

draw to the attention of the public. In preparing this Letter, we have followed 

the National Audit Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice and Auditor 

Guidance Note (AGN) 07 – 'Auditor Reporting'. We reported the detailed 

findings from our audit work to the Council's Audit Committee as those 

charged with governance in our Audit Findings Report on 25 July 2019.

Respective responsibilities

We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit Practice, 

which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 

Act). Our key responsibilities are to:

• give an opinion on the Council financial statements (section two)

• assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section 

three).

In our audit of the Council financial statements, we comply with International 

Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the NAO.

Materiality We determined materiality for the audit of the Council's financial statements to be £1,530,000, which is 2% of the Council's gross 

revenue expenditure. 

Financial Statements opinion We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements on 31 July 2019. 

Whole of Government Accounts 

(WGA)

We completed work on the Council’s consolidation return following guidance issued by the NAO.

Use of statutory powers We did not identify any matters which required us to exercise our additional statutory powers.

Our workP
age 15



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 4

Executive Summary

Working with the Council

During the year we have delivered a number of successful outcomes with you:

• An efficient audit – we delivered an efficient audit with you in July, delivering the financial statements before the deadline

• Understanding your operational health – through the value for money conclusion we provided you with assurance on your operational effectiveness 

• Sharing our insight – we provided regular audit committee updates covering best practice. We also shared our thought leadership reports

• Financial statements workshop - we invited members of your finance team to our workshop on current developments that impacted the 2018-19 financial statements

• Supporting development – We provided training for the Audit Committee on the role of External Audit

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

August 2019

Value for Money arrangements We were satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources. We reflected this in our audit report to the Council on 25 July 2019.

Certification of Grants We also carry out work to certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions.

Our work on this claim is not yet complete and will be finalised by 28 November 2019. We will report the results of this work to the 

Audit Committee separately.

Certificate We certified that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of South Somerset District Council in accordance with 

the requirements of the Code of Audit Practice on 31 July 2019. 

P
age 16



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 5

Audit of the Financial Statements

Our audit approach

Materiality

In our audit of the Council's financial statements, we use the concept of 

materiality to determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and in 

evaluating the results of our work. We define materiality as the size of the 

misstatement in the financial statements that would lead a reasonably 

knowledgeable person to change or influence their economic decisions. 

We determined materiality for the audit of the Council’s financial statements 

to be £1,530,000, which is 2% of the Council’s gross revenue expenditure. 

We used this benchmark as, in our view, users of the Council's financial 

statements are most interested in where the Council has spent its revenue in 

the year. 

We also set a lower level of specific materiality for senior officer 

remuneration of £20,000 due to its sensitive nature.

We set a lower threshold of £76,500, above which we reported errors to the 

Audit Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

The scope of our audit

Our audit involves obtaining sufficient evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are free from material 

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing whether:

• the accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed; 

• the significant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view. 

We also read the remainder of the financial statements, the narrative report and 

annual governance statement to check it is consistent with our understanding of the 

Council and with the financial statements included in the Annual Report on which we 

gave our opinion.

We carry out our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK) and the NAO Code of Audit 

Practice. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council's business 

and is risk based. 

We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response to 

these risks and the results of this work.

P
age 17



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 6

Audit of the Financial Statements

Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 

presumed risk that the risk of management over-

ride of controls is present in all entities. The 

Council faces external scrutiny of its spending, 

and this could potentially place management 

under undue pressure in terms of how they report 

performance.

Management over-ride of controls is a risk 

requiring special audit consideration.

We have performed the following work in respect of this risk: 

• gained an understanding of the accounting estimates, judgements 

applied and decisions made by management and considered their 

reasonableness;

• obtained a full listing of journal entries and identified and subsequently 

tested any unusual journal entries for appropriateness; and

• evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies and any 

significant unusual transactions or estimates.

Our audit work has not identified any 

issues in respect of management 

override of controls.

Valuation of property, plant and equipment

The Council revalues its larger assets on an 

annual basis and the remaining assets on a 

rolling basis over a five year period to ensure that 

carrying value is not materially different from fair 

value. This represents a significant estimate by 

management in the financial statements.

We identified the valuation of land and buildings 

revaluations and impairments as a risk requiring 

special audit consideration

We have performed the following work in respect of this risk: 

• evaluated management's processes and assumptions for the 

calculation of the estimate, the instructions issued to the valuation 

experts and the scope of their work; 

• evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the valuation 

expert; 

• written to the valuer to confirm the basis on which the valuations were 

carried out; 

• challenged the information and assumptions used by the valuer to 

assess completeness and consistency with our understanding; and 

• tested, on a sample basis, revaluations made during the year to ensure 

they have been input correctly into the Authority's asset register.

We identified that all land and buildings are classified as specialist assets 

and have been valued using the depreciated replacement cost (DRC) 

method. 

Our audit work has not identified any 

issues in respect of valuation of land 

and buildings. 

P
age 18



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 7

Audit of the Financial Statements

Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Valuation of pension fund net liability

The Council's pension fund asset and liability as 

reflected in its balance sheet represent  a 

significant estimate in the financial statements.

We identified the valuation of the pension fund 

net liability as a risk requiring special audit 

consideration.

We have performed the following work in respect of this risk: 

• updated our understanding of the processes and controls put in place by 

management to ensure that the Authority’s pension fund net liability is not 

materially misstated and evaluated the design of the associated controls;

• evaluated the instructions issued by management to their management expert 

(an actuary) for this estimate and the scope of the actuary’s work;

• maintained ongoing communication around the impact of the McCloud 

/Sergeant court judgement on the pension liabilities reported by the Authority to 

ensure that these are materially stated and in line with proper accounting 

practices;

• assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary who 

carried out the Authority’s pension fund valuation; 

• assessed the accuracy and completeness of the information provided by the 

Authority to the actuary to estimate the liability; 

• tested the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in 

the notes to the core financial statements with the actuarial report from the 

actuary; and 

• undertaken procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial 

assumptions made by reviewing the report of the consulting actuary (as 

auditor’s expert) and performing any additional procedures suggested within the 

report.

Our audit work has not identified 

any issues in respect of valuation 

of pension fund net liability.

The Council requested an 

estimate from its actuary of the 

potential impact of the ‘McCloud’ 

ruling and GMP equalisation 

changes. The actuary’s estimate 

was of a possible increase in 

pension liabilities of £281k. We 

have satisfied ourselves that 

there is not a risk of material 

error as a result of this issue. We 

also acknowledge the significant 

uncertainties relating to the 

estimation of the impact on the 

Council’s liability. 

P
age 19



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 8

Audit of the Financial Statements

Audit opinion
We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements on 31 

July 2019.

Preparation of the financial statements

The Council presented us with draft financial statements in accordance with 

the national deadline, and provided a good set of working papers to support 

them. The finance team responded promptly and efficiently to our queries 

during the course of the audit. 

Issues arising from the audit of the financial statements

We reported the key issues from our audit to the Council's Audit Committee 

on 25 July 2019. 

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report

We are required to review the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and 

Narrative Report. It published them on its website in the Statement of 

Accounts in line with the national deadlines. 

Both documents were prepared in line with the CIPFA Code and relevant 

supporting guidance. We confirmed that both documents were consistent 

with  the financial statements prepared by the Council and with our 

knowledge of the Council. 

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) 

We carried out work on the Council’s Data Collection Tool in line with instructions 

provided by the NAO . We issued an assurance statement which confirmed the 

Council was below the audit threshold.

Certificate of closure of the audit

We certified that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of South 

Somerset District Council in accordance with the requirements of the Code of Audit 

Practice on 31 July 2019.

P
age 20



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 9

Value for Money conclusion

Background
We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit 

Practice, following the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2017 which 

specified the criterion for auditors to evaluate:

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed   

decisions and deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable 

outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

Key findings
Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and 

identify the risks where we concentrated our work.

The risks we identified and the work we performed are set out overleaf.

As part of our Audit Findings report agreed with the Council in July 2019, we 

agreed recommendations to address our findings.

Overall Value for Money conclusion

We are satisfied that in all significant respects the Council put in place proper 

arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources for the year ending 31 March 2019. 

P
age 21



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 10

Value for Money conclusion
Value for Money Risks

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded 

to the risk

Findings and conclusions

Transformation Programme – Commercialisation 

Programme

The Council is in the process of implementing an ambitious 

programme to redesign the organisation and methods of 

service delivery to deliver more customer focussed, lean, 

efficient services and release recurring significant savings in 

future years.

In order to deliver this transformation, the Council will need to 

make an upfront investment of some £7.5m to cover the cost of 

restructuring, including £4.5m of redundancy costs, as well as 

the cost of new IT infrastructure.

The first stage of the transformation programme has now been 

complete and all service areas have been reviewed and 

restructured. The Council now needs to ensure that momentum 

is maintained and that the Commercialisation programme, 

designed to increase revenue, is properly implemented. Failure 

to do so could lead to loss of income, missed savings targets 

and potentially failure by the Council to deliver services to the 

local population.

The successful implementation of the commercialisation 

strategy represents a significant risk to the Council in terms of:

• Achievement of revenue targets to fund delivery of services

• Robust governance over decisions made, with transparency 

and clarity for elected members

• Close monitoring of costs and revenues generated as a 

result of decisions made to ensure that the overall financial 

benefits are realised and that returns are in line with 

assumptions

• Appropriate expertise employed by the Council to deliver the 

strategy and identify appropriate and relevant opportunities 

to maximise benefit to the organisation.

We have reviewed the 

project management 

arrangements in place 

at the Council to 

assess how it is 

addressing the risks 

and any mitigating 

actions it may need to 

take to deliver the 

planned outcomes

South Somerset District Council (the Council) is in a position where it needs to save costs 

and generate additional income over the coming years, if it is to be financial sustainable 

and be able to meet community needs. To this end an income generation programme was 

set up with the sole aim of helping the council in becoming financially sustainable. 

The financial implication for this was the set up of a ringfenced £15m which was 

‘earmarked’, later increased to £75m, to enable the overall capital programme to be set and 

financed in the most efficient way possible. The expectation is that any investment would 

generate income well in excess of the costs of borrowing.

The commercial strategy was approved by Council in August 2017 which included a new 

Commercial Strategy for 2017-2021 with the aim to manage assets and investments well 

with:

• Clear policies on property asset classification and purpose

• Achieving a balanced portfolio with risks effectively managed

• A significant investment fund supported by effective governance and appraisal processes

• Appetite to support capital investment through borrowing 

• Invest in operations capacity to deliver the strategy.

The commercial strategy is to provide a net increase in income in excess of £2.25m per 

year by 2020/21, with a stretch target of £3m per year.

The Commercial strategy and investments progress report is a regular report to inform 

members on progress to date and commercial investment activity.

As part of the commercial strategy the Council agreed that the normal approval process 

may compromise the commercial interests of the Council. It was therefore agreed that the 

investment process would include:

• All potential investments being required to meet the parameters of the Commercial 

Strategy agreed by the Council including rate of return and the creation of a balanced 

portfolio

• All potential investments being required to go through a rigorous assessment and due 

diligence process including assessment of risk and mitigation

• That investments would be assessed by a newly established Investments Assessment 

Group (IAG) comprising the Portfolio Holder, Commercial Director, S151 Officer, 

Monitoring Officer and Commercial Property, Land and Development Manager and there 

is a requirement for a unanimously agreed recommendation from this group on 

investment proposals

P
age 22



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 11

Value for Money conclusion
Value for Money Risks

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to 

the risk

Findings and conclusions

Transformation Programme – Commercialisation 

Programme

We have reviewed the 

project management 

arrangements in place at 

the Council to assess how 

it is addressing the risks 

and any mitigating actions 

it may need to take to 

deliver the planned 

outcomes

• That the final decision on investments be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation 

with the Leader, up to an agreed limit (with no such proposals being considered unless a 

unanimous recommendation comes forward from the IAG).

As at June 2019 the total amount invested was £36m on four commercial investments which 

were funded through a combination of reserves and borrowing. At this point the plan was to 

utilise £18.1m of borrowing towards the funding of these investments with the balance from 

capital/revenue reserves.

Part of the ongoing reporting to members is to identify those assets that the Council could 

have potentially invested in and chose not to. This is to demonstrate a prudent and 

regimented approach is being taken to investment decisions. The IAG is the main group 

responsible for this and have set a benchmark of a 7% return on investment for any 

investment. However, should an investment opportunity not return 7% it is not an automatic 

decision that the Council will not invest, each individual opportunity is reviewed on its merits 

before a decision is made.

Decisions on whether to invest or dispose of assets is taken by the IAG and the Disposal 

Assessment Group (DAG). Notes of IAG and DAG are not generally shared with members 

due to commercial sensitivity but are covered in the recommendations to the CEO and 

Leader for the formal decision process, considering the overall portfolio position and 

performance

Conclusion

The Council has a clear investment strategy in place that is designed to increase revenue 

and cover the gap within the MTFP with the ultimate aim of making the Council more 

financially resilient in future years. 

The decision making process involves a number of members and senior management who 

have been given delegated decisions making powers by the Council in order to be agile and 

allow decisions to be made quickly and in line with the market. 

The Council have chosen to devolve the decision making process and the performance to 

date, with the clear consideration of the factors that impact on future decisions, demonstrate 

that the Council have a robust governance process.  However, the frequency of reporting at 

every six months should be kept under review to ensure that is sufficient to enable Members 

to effectively monitor and challenge decisions in a timely way. 

We therefore conclude that the Council has appropriate processes in place for achieving 

value for money.

P
age 23



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 12

A. Reports issued and fees 

We confirm below our final reports issued and fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services

Fees

Planned

£

Actual fees 

£

2017/18 fees

£

Statutory audit 37,943 37,943 49,276

Housing Benefit Grant Certification 8,000 TBC 9,898

Total fees 45,943 37,943 59,174

Fee variations are subject to PSAA approval.

Reports issued

Report Date issued

Audit Plan 15 January 2019

Audit Findings Report 16 July 2019

Annual Audit Letter 30 August 2019

Audit fee variation

As outlined in our audit plan, the 2018-19 scale fee published by PSAA 

of £37,943 assumes that the scope of the audit does not significantly 

change.  There are a number of areas where the scope of the audit has 

changed, which has led to additional work.  These are set out in the 

following table.

Area Reason

Fee 

proposed 

Assessing the 

impact of the 

McCloud ruling 

The Government’s transitional arrangements 

for pensions were ruled discriminatory by the 

Court of Appeal last December. The Supreme 

Court refused the Government’s application for 

permission to appeal this ruling.  As part of our 

audit we have reviewed the revised actuarial 

assessment of the impact on the financial 

statements along with any audit reporting 

requirements. 

1,500

Pensions – IAS 

19 

The Financial Reporting Council has 

highlighted that the quality of work by audit 

firms in respect of IAS 19 needs to improve 

across local government audits. Accordingly, 

we have increased the level of scope and 

coverage in respect of IAS 19 this year to 

reflect this.

1,500

PPE Valuation –

work of experts 

As above, the Financial Reporting Council has 

highlighted that auditors need to improve the 

quality of work on PPE valuations across the 

sector. We have increased the volume and 

scope of our audit work to reflect this. 

1,500

Total 4,500

P
age 24



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19 13

A. Reports issued and fees continued 

We confirm below our final reports issued and fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services

Fees for non-audit services

Service

Fees

£

Audit related services 

- Certification of Housing Benefit (estimate)

8,000

Non- audit services

• For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant 

Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Council. The table 

above summarises all non-audit services which were identified.

• We have considered whether non-audit services might be perceived 

as a threat to our independence as the Council’s auditor and have 

ensured that appropriate safeguards are put in place. 

The above non-audit services are consistent with the Council’s policy on 

the allotment of non-audit work to your auditor

P
age 25



Our connections
 We are well connected to MHCLG, the NAO and 

key local government networks

 We work with CIPFA, Think Tanks and legal 
firms to develop workshops and good practice

 We have a strong presence across all parts of local 
government including blue light services

 We provide thought leadership, seminars and 
training to support our clients and to provide 
solutions

Our people
 We have over 25 engagement leads accredited by 

ICAEW, and over 
250 public sector specialists

 We provide technical and personal development 
training

 We employ over 80 Public Sector trainee 
accountants

The Local Government economy 

Local authorities face unprecedented challenges including:

- Financial Sustainability – addressing funding gaps and balancing needs against resources

- Service Sustainability – Adult Social Care funding gaps and pressure on Education, Housing, 

Transport

- Transformation – new models of delivery, greater emphasis on partnerships, more focus on 

economic development

- Technology – cyber security and risk management

At a wider level, the political environment remains complex:

- The government continues its negotiation with the EU over Brexit, and future arrangements 

remain uncertain.

- We will consider your arrangements for managing and reporting your financial resources as part 

of our work in reaching our Value for Money conclusion.

- We will keep you informed of changes to the financial  reporting requirements for 2018/19 

through on-going discussions and invitations to our technical update workshops.

New 
opportunities 
and challenges 
for your 
community

Our quality
 Our audit approach complies with the NAO's 

Code of Audit Practice, and International 
Standards on Auditing

 We are fully compliant with ethical standards

 Your audit team has passed all quality inspections 
including QAD and AQRT

Grant Thornton in Local 
Government

 We work closely with our clients to ensure that we understand their financial challenges, 

performance and future strategy.

 We deliver robust, pragmatic and timely financial statements and Value for Money audits

 We have an open, two way dialogue with clients that support improvements in arrangements 

and the audit process

 Feedback meetings tell us that our clients are pleased with the service we deliver. We are not 

complacent and will continue to improve further

 Our locally based, experienced teams have a commitment to both our clients and the wider 

public sector

 We are a Firm that specialises in Local Government, Health and Social Care, and Cross 

Sector working, with over 25 Key Audit Partners, the most public sector specialist Engagement 

Leads of any firm

 We have strong relationships with CIPFA, SOLCAE, the Society of Treasurers, the Association 

of Directors of Adult Social Care and others. 

Our 
relationship 
with our 
clients– why are 
we best placed?

 Early advice on technical accounting  issues, providing certainty of accounting treatments, future 

financial planning implications and resulting in draft statements that are 'right first time’

 Knowledge and expertise in all matters local government, including local objections and 

challenge, where we have an unrivalled depth of expertise. 

 Early engagement on issues, especially on ADMs, housing delivery changes, Children services 

and Adult Social Care restructuring, partnership working with the NHS, inter authority 

agreements, governance and financial reporting

 Implementation of our recommendations have resulted in demonstrable improvements in your 

underlying arrangements, for example accounting for unique assets, financial management, 

reporting and governance, and tax implications for the Cornwall Council companies 

 Robust but pragmatic challenge – seeking early liaison on issues, and having the difficult 

conversations early to ensure a 'no surprises' approach – always doing the right thing

 Providing regional training and networking opportunities for your teams on technical accounting 

issues and developments and changes to Annual Reporting requirements

 An efficient audit approach, providing  tangible benefits, such as releasing finance staff earlier 

and prompt resolution of issues.

Delivering real 
value through:

Our client base 
and delivery
 We are the largest supplier of external audit 

services to local government

 We audit over 150 local government clients

 We signed 95% of  our local government opinions 
in 2017/18 by 31 July

 In our latest independent client service review, we 
consistently score 9/10 or above. Clients value our 
strong interaction, our local knowledge and wealth 
of expertise.

Our technical 
support
 We have specialist leads for Public Sector Audit 

quality and technical

 We provide national technical guidance on 
emerging auditing, financial reporting and ethical 
areas

 Specialist audit software is used to deliver 
maximum efficiencies

Our commitment to our local government 

clients

• Senior level investment

• Local presence enhancing our 

responsiveness, agility and flexibility.

• High quality audit delivery

• Collaborative working across the public 

sector

• Wider connections across the public sector 

economy, including with health and other 

local government bodies

• Investment in Health and Wellbeing, Social 

Value and the Vibrant Economy 

• Sharing of best practice and our thought 

leadership.

• Invitations to training events locally and 

regionally – bespoke training for emerging 

issues

• Further investment in data analytics and 

informatics to keep our knowledge of the 

areas up to date and to assist in designing a 

fully tailored audit approachP
age 26



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  2018-19

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 27



2019/20 Treasury Management Mid-Year Performance Report and 
Strategy Update 

Director Netta Meadow, Strategy and Support Services 
Lead Officer: Paul Fitzgerald, S151 Officer

Paul Matravers, Specialist - Finance 
Contact Details: Paul.fitzgerald@southsomerset.gov.uk or (01935) 462226

Paul.matravers@southsomerset.gov.uk or (01935) 462275

Purpose of Report

1. To present the Council’s 2019/20 mid-year treasury management performance and seek support 
of Members for updates to the Treasury Management Strategy for the remainder of the financial 
year. 

Recommendations

2. The Audit Committee is asked to note the actual and forecast treasury performance, and endorse 
the updated Treasury Management Strategy (attached) for recommendation to Council. 

Introduction and Background

3. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management in 
the Public Services Code of Practice requires the Council to approve an annual Treasury 
Management Strategy, report treasury performance mid-year and at the year end.

4. The Council has invested substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks 
including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The 
successful identification, monitoring and control of risk is therefore central to the treasury 
management strategy.

5. In line with the requirements of the Prudential Code, Council approved a Capital Strategy in 
February 2019. This is a summary document covering capital expenditure and financing, 
treasury management and non-treasury investments. 

6. Council also approved an Investment Strategy in February 2019, in line with MHCLG Statutory 
Investment Guidance.  The Investment Strategy focuses on two investment types which are 
commercial investments and investments made for service purposes. 

7. This report provides information on the performance of the Council’s Treasury Investments for 
the first six months of the 2019/20 financial year.  The performance of the Council’s Commercial 
Investments which are part of the Commercial strategy are not included in this report.

8. CIPFA has defined Treasury Management as: “the management of the organisation’s cash flows, 
its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks.”

9. The Council has delegated responsibility for the oversight and monitoring of its treasury 
management policies and practices to Audit Committee, and for the execution and administration 
of treasury management decisions to the S151 Officer who will act in accordance with the 
organisation’s policy statement and Treasury Management Practices (TMPs), and CIPFA’s 
standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

Page 28

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Paul.matravers@southsomerset.gov.uk


10. The Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be the prime 
criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be measured. 
Specific risks are identified in the Council’s approved Treasury Management Practices. The risks 
include:

 Liquidity Risk (Adequate cash resources)
 Market or Interest Rate Risk (Fluctuations in the value of investments and borrowing).
 Inflation Risks (Exposure to inflation)
 Credit and Counterparty Risk (Security of Investments).
 Refinancing Risks (Impact of debt maturing in future years).
 Legal & Regulatory Risk (Compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements).
 Management Practices for non-treasury investments.

11. The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to ‘have regard to’ the Prudential Code 
and to set Prudential Indicators for the next three years to ensure that the Council’s capital 
investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable.  The Act therefore requires the Council 
to set out its treasury strategy for borrowing and to prepare an Annual Investment Strategy; this 
sets out the Council’s policies for managing its investments and for giving priority to the security 
and liquidity of those investments. 

12. When the strategy for 2019/20 was written it took into account the Council’s current treasury 
position and drew upon the forecasts for interest rates provided by the Council’s treasury 
advisors, Arlingclose, leading to the proposed Prudential Indicators included.  This has been 
amended with the most recent forecast.

13. The approved Treasury Management Strategy is attached at Appendix 1.

14. The remainder of the report provides information on:

 Regulatory updates
 Treasury Management Position 
 Current Borrowing
 Treasury Investment Activity
 Pooled Fund Investments
 Non Treasury Investments

Regulatory Update

15. The regulatory change that impacted on the accounting treatment of investments, and therefore 
the treasury investments, is IFRS 9 which is the new accounting standard for financial 
instruments.   The standard applied to local authorities from the 2018/19 financial year.

16. The investment type impacted by the IFRS9 accounting standard is pooled funds, in which the 
Council has significant investments.  The amount invested in pooled funds as at 30 September 
2019 is £23.25m, from a total investment portfolio of £31.4m.

17. The accounting treatment of a Pooled Fund investment requires the fair value of the investment 
to be recognised in the accounts at year end.  Therefore, at the end of each financial year an 
adjustment to the value of the investment is made to reflect the ‘fair value’ as at that date. Before 
these IFRS9 changes the accounting treatment allowed the in-year increase or decrease in the 
fair value of the investment to be transferred to the ‘Available for Sale reserve’ at year end. This 
accounting treatment meant that there was no effect on the general fund and the taxpayer.  The 

Page 29



new IFRS9 requirements changed the accounting treatment and removed the ability to transfer 
the in-year gain or loss due to the change in fair value of the investment to the Available for Sale 
Reserve.  

18. The revised treatment is to take the change in value of the investment to the income and 
expenditure account meaning this impacts on the ‘bottom line’.  In order to mitigate this impact 
for a 5-year transitional period starting in April 2018, the MHCLG has introduced a statutory 
override meaning valuation changes can transfer to a ‘pooled fund adjustment account’. It is 
assumed that after this transitional period any changes in valuation will represent an immediate 
gain or loss which will need to be reported against the budget and affect usable General Reserve 
balances.  

Treasury Management Position - Summary

19. The treasury management position at 30th September 2019 and the change during the year is 
shown in the table below.

31/3/19
Balance

£m

Net 
Movement

£m

30/9/19
Balance

£m
Long-term borrowing
Short-term borrowing -19.50 -20.00 -39.50
Total borrowing -19.50 -20.00 -39.50
Long-term investments
Short-term investments
Cash and cash equivalents

3.00
4.00

23.73

-
-

0.68

3.00
4.00

24.41
Total investments 30.73 0.68 31.41
Net Position 11.23 -19.32 -8.09

20. External borrowing has increased during the first six months of the year, reflecting the financing 
of planned capital expenditure, particularly in respect of investment property acquisition. In line 
with treasury advice, the Council continues to utilise short term borrowing, which is flexible and 
keeps our borrowing costs low.  

21. The projected value of long term borrowing as at 31 March 2020 was reported to Audit 
Committee in February 2019 in the Annual Treasury Management Strategy report.  The external 
borrowing requirement at the end of the 2019/20 financial year was anticipated to be £50m, 
therefore the increase in borrowing of £20m is in line with the projections previously reported 
and continue to remain valid.

22. The amount of external borrowing will be dependent on the commercial property purchases that 
are made in the remaining part of the financial year which may mean the borrowing may be more 
or less than £50m at year end. In addition, it may be advantageous to continue to meet the 
financing requirement using short term rather than long term borrowing, however this is kept 
under review to strike the appropriate balance between costs and cost certainty. 

Page 30



External Borrowing 

23. The table below summarises the external borrowing position for 2019/20.  It details the opening 
position in respect of external loans, loans repaid, new loans, the average interest rate and the 
position as at 30th September.

Amount Average 
Interest rate

External loans as at 1 April 2019 19,500,000 0.86%
Loans Repaid -19,500,000  
New Loans 39,500,000 0.85%
Total External loans as at 30 Sept 19 39,500,000 0.78%

24. The loans repaid in the period were:

Lender Date 
Borrowed

Maturity 
Date

No of 
Days

Interest 
Rate

Amount
£

The Vale of Glamorgan Council 22/01/2019 01/04/2019 69 0.79% 1,500,000
Derbyshire County Council 
Pension Fund 15/02/2019 01/04/2019 45 0.90% 10,000,000

Coventry University 18/03/2019 18/04/2019 31 0.90% 8,000,000
    Total 19,500,000

25. The loans held at 30th September are in the following table.  The table shows that we have 
prioritised the inter-authority lending market, with the short-term loan interest rates ranging from 
0.68% to 1.05%.

Lender
Date 

Borrowed
Maturity 

Date
No of 
Days

Interest 
Rate

Amount
£

North Ayrshire Council 01/04/19 30/03/20 364 1.05% 4,000,000
London Borough of Ealing 01/04/19 30/03/20 364 1.05% 2,000,000
Hampshire County Council 18/04/19 17/04/20 365 1.01% 5,000,000
Royal Borough of Kensington & 
Chelsea

18/04/19 17/01/20 274 0.95% 5,000,000

The Vale of Glamorgan Council 18/04/19 18/10/19 183 0.80% 3,000,000
Thurrock Council 20/08/19 20/11/19 92 0.70% 5,000,000
Hertfordshire County Council 20/08/19 20/11/19 92 0.70% 6,000,000
Essex County Council 19/09/19 19/12/19 91 0.70% 7,000,000
OPPC for Staffordshire 27/09/19 15/10/19 18 0.68% 2,500,000

Total Borrowing  at 30 Sept 19    0.85% 39,500,000

Page 31



Public Works Loans Board – Interest Rate Rise

26. The Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) is a statutory body operating within the United Kingdom 
Debt Management Office, an Executive Agency of HM Treasury. The function of the PWLB is to 
lend money from the National Loans Fund to local authorities, and to collect the repayments.

27. PWLB rates have been historically low in recent times meaning borrowing from the loan facility 
has increased significantly with local authorities using the borrowing to invest in commercial 
property to produce a financial return to invest in services.

28. Between April and early October 2019 the interest rate on a new 50-year maturity loan peaked 
at 2.61% (early May) but the rate dropped to a low of 1.77% in early September.  

29. On Wednesday 9th October the PWLB announced a whole percentage point increase in the rate 
of borrowing on new loans, meaning the rate for a 50-year new maturity loan from 1.81% to 
2.82% overnight.

30. The Council have a continuing need to borrow, the borrowing strategy includes the PWLB and a 
number of other options.  The Council’s treasury management advisors are in regular contact 
with officers providing advice on the options available and therefore ensuring the borrowing costs 
are kept to a minimum.     

Treasury Investment Activity

31. The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held. In the first six months of the financial year the 
Council’s investment balance has ranged between £31 million and £46 million.

Breakdown of investments as at 30 September 2019

Date 
Invested

Counterparty Nominal 
Amount £

Interest 
Rate

Maturity 
Date

11/11/16 Northumberland County Council 1,000,000 1.00% 11/11/20 
09/02/17 Liverpool City Council 2,000,000 0.92% 11/11/19 

Corporate Bonds
20/10/16 Santander UK Plc *Covered* 1,000,000 1.04% 14/04/21 
10/11/16 National Australia Bank *Covered* 1,000,000 1.10% 10/11/21 

Floating Rate Notes (FRN’s)
16/01/17 Lloyds Bank Plc *Covered* 1,600,000 0.99% 16/01/20 
16/01/17 Lloyds Bank Plc *Covered* 400,000 0.98% 16/01/20 

Money Market Funds
Aberdeen (previously Standard Life) 1,160,000 0.75%
Total Internal Investments 7,000,000 0.95%

Property & Pooled Funds
Payden Fund VNAV 1,000,000 0.94%
Royal London Cash Plus Fund 1,000,000 1.42%
CCLA Property Fund 5,000,000 5.26%
Investec Diversified Income Fund 5,000,000 4.35%
Schroder Income Maximiser Fund 6,250,000 9.11%
Colombia Threadneedle Equity Income Fund 5,000,000 2.52%
Total External Investments 23,250,000 3.54%

Total Investments 31,410,000 2.84%

Page 32



Note: Money Market Funds are instant access accounts so the rate displayed is a daily rate 

32. The Council has kept its strategic fund investments at £23.25m and it is estimated that the level 
of strategic investments as at 31 March 2020 will be between £25m and £30m.  

Pooled Fund Investment - Values

33. The Council’s pooled fund investments are held in externally managed funds where short-term 
security and liquidity are lesser considerations, and the objectives instead are regular revenue 
income and long-term price stability. This fits with the objectives of the Council’s overall Financial 
Strategy.

34. The investment balance as at 30 September 2019 and the value of each investment as at 1 April 
and 30 September is detailed in the chart below. 

CCLA

Sch
roders

Inve
ste

c

Colombia Thread
needle

Roya
l Lo

ndon

Pay
den

£0

£1,000,000

£2,000,000

£3,000,000

£4,000,000

£5,000,000

£6,000,000

£7,000,000

Investment Balance 30 September 2019 Investment Value 1 April 2019 Investment Value 30 September 2019

Pooled Fund Investments Values - 2019/20 

Note: Pooled fund investments are revalued to reflect the fair value of the investment, the 
second and third bars in the graph signifies this value at 1 April and 30 September.  The first bar 
represents the nominal investment balance in each fund at 30 September. 

35. The table below includes the opening and closing investment balances for each pooled fund 
investment. The investment fair value signifies the individual value of the investments after the 
year-end and mid-year valuation. The table shows that the ‘fair value’ of the portfolio has reduced 
by £461k (1.9%) between 1 April and 30 September, reflecting volatility in market value. The 
strategy works on the basis that invest values will go up and down but annual income return 
remains positive, and the Council would not plan to redeem the investment when its value is 
below the nominal balance unless this would be a prudent course of action.

Page 33



Investment

Investment 
Balance

30/09/2019
£

Investment 
Value

01/04/2019
£

Investment 
Value

30/09/2019
£

CCLA 5,000,000 5,690,293 5,646,759
Schroders 6,250,000 6,034,720 5,580,227
Investec 5,000,000 4,945,973 4,859,804
Colombia Threadneedle 5,000,000 5,008,789 5,128,690
Royal London 1,000,000 1,000,127 1,000,127
Payden 1,000,000 999,733 1,003,168
Total 23,250,000 23,679,635 23,218,775

Pooled Fund Investment – Income Return

36. The income generated from pooled fund investments for the first six months of 2019/20 and the 
rate of return is detailed in graph and table below. This demonstrates that the investment in the 
Schroder Income Maximiser Fund has performed well in terms of income and rate of return on 
investment (but its market value has reduced as shown in the table above). Overall the return 
on pooled funds has positively averaged over 5% during the first six months of the financial year.

Schroders CCLA Investec Colombia 
Threadneedle

Royal London Payden
£0

£50,000

£100,000

£150,000

£200,000

£250,000

£300,000

£350,000
9.67%

4.59% 4.35%

2.52%

1.42%
0.94%

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

7.00%

8.00%

9.00%

10.00%

11.00%

Interest Received £ Rate of return %

Pooled Fund
Interest Received and Rate of Return

Page 34



Fund

Interest 
Received

£
Rate of 

return %
Schroders 312,951 9.67%
CCLA 118,724 4.59%
Investec 112,619 4.35%
Colombia Threadneedle 65,204 2.52%
Royal London 7,315 1.42%
Payden 4,880 0.94%
Total 621,693 5.16%

Non-Treasury Investments

37. The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised Treasury Management Code now covers all the 
financial assets of the Council as well as other non-financial assets which the Council holds 
primarily for financial return. This is replicated in MHCLG’s Investment Guidance, in which the 
definition of investments is further broadened to also include all such assets held partially for 
financial return. 

38. In addition to its treasury investments, the Council also held £10.96m in other investments in the 
form of loans. The largest element of these loans represents the Council’s loan invested as part 
of its commercial investment property portfolio.

 Loan to Community Organisation - £0.15m
 Loan to Local Authority Partnership - £0.90m
 Loan for Commercial Activities - £9.91m

39. The detail of the Council’s total investment in commercial investment property is reported 
separately. As part of its Commercial Strategy, investment in property has increased significantly 
in the past two years, and this will continue to grow over the next 2-3 years. The value of 
investment properties held in the balance sheet as at 31 March 2019 (including some properties 
held for a substantial period of time) was £26.11m. This has increased by £26.85m during this 
year, to £52.96m as at 30 September 2019 (not including the loan shown in the previous 
paragraph).

Financial Implications

40. There are no additional financial implications in reviewing the attached treasury management 
strategy.

Background Papers: Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (Full Council February 2019)

Page 35



1

Appendix 1

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 
(Updated October 2019)
Introduction

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Treasury Management 
in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the Treasury Code) requires the Council to approve 
a treasury management strategy before the start of each financial year, and review it mid-year. 

In addition, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) revised 
guidance on Local Authority Investments and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) in February 
2019. The guidance requires the Council to approve an investment strategy before the start 
of each financial year.

This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to both the CIPFA Code and the MHCLG Guidance.

The Council has invested substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial 
risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  
The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk are therefore central to the 
Council’s treasury management strategy.

Revised strategy: In accordance with the MHCLG Guidance, the Council will be asked to 
approve a revised Treasury Management Strategy Statement should the assumptions on 
which this report is based change significantly. Such circumstances would include, for 
example, a large unexpected change in interest rates, in the Council’s capital programme or 
in the level of its investment balance.

External Context

Economic background: UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPIH) fell to 1.7% year/year in August 
2019 from 2.0% in July, weaker than the consensus forecast of 1.9% and below the Bank of 
England’s target. The most recent labour market data for the three months to July 2019 
showed the unemployment rate edged back down to 3.8% while the employment rate 
remained at 76.1%, the joint highest since records began in 1971. Nominal annual wage 
growth measured by the 3-month average excluding bonuses was 3.8% and 4.0% including 
bonuses.  Adjusting for inflation, real wages were up 1.9% excluding bonuses and 2.1% 
including.

The Quarterly National Accounts for Q2 GDP confirmed the UK economy contracted by 0.2% 
following the 0.5% gain in Q1 which was distorted by stockpiling ahead of Brexit. Only the 
services sector registered an increase in growth, a very modest 0.1%, with both production 
and construction falling and the former registering its largest drop since Q4 2012.  Business 
investment fell by 0.4% (revised from -0.5% in the first estimate) as Brexit uncertainties 
impacted on business planning and decision-making.

Politics, both home and abroad, continued to be a big driver of financial markets over the last 
quarter. Boris Johnson won the Conservative Party leadership contest and has committed to 
leaving the EU on 31st October regardless of whether a deal is reached with the EU.  Mr 
Johnson prorogued Parliament which led some MPs to put forward a bill requiring him to seek 

Page 36



2

a Brexit extension if no deal is in place by 19th October.  The move was successful and, having 
been approved by the House of Lords, was passed into law. The Supreme Court subsequently 
ruled Mr Johnson’s suspension of Parliament unlawful.

Tensions continued between the US and China with no trade agreement in sight and both 
countries imposing further tariffs on each other’s goods. The US Federal Reserve cut its target 
Federal Funds rates by 0.25% in September to a range of 1.75% - 2%, a pre-emptive move 
to maintain economic growth amid escalating concerns over the trade war and a weaker 
economic environment leading to more pronounced global slowdown. The euro area 
Purchasing Manager Indices (PMIs) pointed to a deepening slowdown in the Eurozone.  These 
elevated concerns have caused key government yield curves to invert, something seen by 
many commentators as a predictor of a global recession. Market expectations are for further 
interest rate cuts from the Fed and in September the European Central Bank reduced its 
deposit rate to -0.5% and announced the recommencement of quantitative easing from 1st 
November.

The Bank of England maintained Bank Rate at 0.75% and in its August Inflation Report noted 
the deterioration in global activity and sentiment and confirmed that monetary policy decisions 
related to Brexit could be in either direction depending on whether or not a deal is ultimately 
reached by 31st October.

Financial markets: After rallying early in 2019, financial markets have been adopting a more 
risk-off approach in the following period as equities saw greater volatility and bonds rallied 
(prices up, yields down) in a flight to quality and anticipation of more monetary stimulus from 
central banks.  The Dow Jones, FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 are broadly back at the same levels 
seen in March/April.

Gilt yields remained volatile over the period on the back of ongoing economic and political 
uncertainty.  From a yield of 0.63% at the end of June, the 5-year benchmark gilt yield fell to 
0.32% by the end of September. There were falls in the 10-year and 20-year gilts over the 
same period, with the former dropping from 0.83% to 0.55% and the latter falling from 1.35% 
to 0.88%.  1-month, 3-month and 12-month LIBID (London Interbank Bid) rates averaged 
0.65%, 0.75% and 1.00% respectively over the period.

Recent activity in the bond markets and PWLB interest rates highlight that weaker economic 
growth remains a global risk. The US yield curve remains inverted with 10-year Treasury yields 
lower than US 3-month bills. History has shown that a recession hasn’t been far behind a yield 
curve inversion. Following the sale of 10-year Bunds at -0.24% in June, yields on German 
government securities continue to remain negative in the secondary market with 2 and 5-year 
securities currently both trading around -0.77%.

Credit background: Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads rose and then fell again during the 
quarter, continuing to remain low in historical terms. After rising to almost 120bps in May, the 
spread on non-ringfenced bank NatWest Markets plc fell back to around 80bps by the end of 
September, while for the ringfenced entity, National Westminster Bank plc, the spread 
remained around 40bps.  The other main UK banks, as yet not separated into ringfenced and 
non-ringfenced from a CDS perspective, traded between 34 and 76bps at the end of the 
period.

There were minimal credit rating changes during the period. Moody’s upgraded The Co-
operative Bank’s long-term rating to B3 and Fitch upgraded Clydesdale Bank and Virgin 
Money to A-.

Page 37



3

Economic background: The major external influence on the Council’s treasury management 
strategy for 2019/20 continues to be the UK’s progress in negotiating its exit from the 
European Union and agreeing future trading arrangements.  The EU Withdrawal Bill, which 
repeals the European Communities Act 1972 that took the UK into the EU and enables EU 
law to be transferred into UK law, narrowly made it through Parliament. 

Very little progress was made in finalising negotiations with the EU (these have now been 
pushed into autumn 2018, with a UK-EU special summit on the Brexit deal expected in 
November). Nor was much progress made on future trading arrangements with non-EU 
countries, extending the period of uncertainty.

UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) index fell to 2.4% in June, a 12-month low.  CPI ticked back 
up marginally to 2.5% in July.  The Bank of England made no change to monetary policy at its 
meetings in May and June, however hawkish minutes and a 6-3 vote to maintain rates was 
followed by a unanimous decision for a rate rise of 0.25% in August, taking Bank Rate to 
0.75%. 

It is the view of the Council’s treasury advisor that the UK economy still faces a challenging 
outlook as the minority government continues to negotiate the country's exit from the 
European Union. Central bank actions and geopolitical risks, such as prospective trade wars, 
have and will continue to produce significant volatility in financial markets, including bond 
markets.

Financial markets: Gilt yields displayed marked volatility during the period, particularly 
following Italy’s political crisis in late May when government bond yields saw sharp moves akin 
to those at the height of the European financial crisis with falls in yield in safe-haven UK, 
German and US government bonds.  Over the period, despite the volatility, the yield on the 5-
year benchmark gilt only rose slightly from 1.13% to 1.14%, the 10-year from 1.37% to 1.39% 
and the 20-year gilt from 1.74% to 1.85%.  Money markets rates remained low: 1-month, 3-
month and 12-month LIBID rates averaged 0.45%, 0.60% and 0.87% respectively over the 
period.

Credit background: High profile bank failures in Italy and Portugal have reinforced concerns 
over the health of the European banking sector. Sluggish economies and fines for pre-crisis 
behaviour continue to weigh on bank profits, and any future economic slowdown will 
exacerbate concerns in this regard.

Bail-in legislation, which ensures that large investors including local authorities will rescue 
failing banks instead of taxpayers in the future, has now been fully implemented in the 
European Union, Switzerland and USA, while Australia and Canada are progressing with their 
own plans. 

The big four UK banks are progressing well with ringfencing. Barclays Bank plc and HSBC 
Bank plc have created new banks (Barclays Bank UK and HSBC UK Bank) and transferred 
ringfenced (retail) business lines into the new companies. Lloyds Bank plc has created Lloyds 
Bank Corporate Markets as a new non-ringfenced (investment) bank. RBS has renamed 
existing group entities and transferred accounts to leave NatWest Markets as the non-
ringfenced bank and NatWest Bank, Royal Bank of Scotland and Ulster Bank as the 
ringfenced banks.

There remains some uncertainty over how these changes will impact upon the credit strength 
of the residual legal entities.

Page 38



4

The credit risk associated with making unsecured bank deposits has therefore increased 
relative to the risk of other investment options available to the Council; returns from cash 
deposits however remain very low.

Outlook for the remainder of 2019/20
The global economy is entering a period of slower growth in response to political issues, 
primarily the trade policy stance of the US. The UK economy has displayed a marked 
slowdown in growth due to both Brexit uncertainty and the downturn in global activity. In 
response, global and UK interest rate expectations have eased dramatically.

There appears no near-term resolution to the trade dispute between China and the US, a 
dispute that the US appears comfortable exacerbating further. With the 2020 presidential 
election a year away, Donald Trump is unlikely to change his stance.

Parliament appears to have frustrated UK Prime Minister Boris Johnson’s desire to exit the 
EU on 31st October. The probability of a no-deal EU exit in the immediate term has decreased, 
although a no-deal Brexit cannot be entirely ruled out for 2019 and the risk of this event 
remains for 2020. The risk of a general election in the near term has, however, increased. 

Central bank actions and geopolitical risks will continue to produce significant volatility in 
financial markets, including bond markets.

Our treasury advisor Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to remain at 0.75% for the foreseeable 
future but there remain substantial risks to this forecast, dependant on Brexit outcomes and 
the evolution of the global economy. Arlingclose also expects gilt yields to remain at low levels 
for the foreseeable future and judge the risks to be weighted to the downside and that volatility 
will continue to offer longer-term borrowing opportunities.

Page 39



5

Local Context

The Council’s balance sheet summary and forecast for the current and future financial years 
is included in table 1.

Table 1: Balance sheet summary and forecast
31/3/19
Actual
£’000

31/3/20
Estimate

£’000

31/3/21
Forecast

£’000

31/3/22
Forecast

£’000
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 39,361 61,730 84,100 104,600
Usable Capital Receipts (22,798) (9,868) (6,368) (3,868)
Balances & Reserves (23,793) (23,575) (23,575) (23,575)
Borrowing (19,500) (52,600) (75,000) (100,000)
Net Balance Sheet Position ** (26,730) (24,313) (20,843) (22,843)

**excluding working capital.  

The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are the underlying resources 
available for investment. The Council’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and 
investments below their underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing. 

The Council currently has external borrowing of £39.5m (30/09/2019) and has an increasing 
CFR due to the capital programme. It is anticipated that the borrowing requirement could rise 
to £150m-£200m over the forecast period, reflecting potential investment in commercial 
properties and town centre regeneration programmes. It should be noted that the Council has 
also agreed to progress with significant regeneration programmes. The financing approach 
agreed in the governance for these programmes is quite elastic meaning the CFR will be 
determined by supported business cases, the timing of spend, and the ability to raise capital 
resources through assets sales and external funding.

CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends that the 
Council’s total debt should be lower than its highest forecast CFR over the next three years.  
Table 1 shows that the Council expects to comply with this recommendation during 2019/20.  

Borrowing Strategy

The Council held external short-term loan finance of £19.5m at 31 March 2019, and this has 
increased to £39.5m as at 30 September 2019. The balance sheet forecast in table 1 shows 
that the Council expects to borrow additional amounts in 2019/20.  The Council may decide to 
borrow to pre-fund future years’ requirements as well, providing this does not exceed the 
authorised limit for borrowing of £124 million. 

PWLB borrowing rates indicates it may be appropriate to externalise some or all of the current 
CFR in the near future in order to secure favourable long term borrowing rates. The rates will 
continue to be monitored by the S151 Officer and advice sought from the Council’s treasury 
management advisors.

Objectives: The Council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately 
low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of those costs 
over the period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the 
Council’s long-term plans change is a secondary objective.

Page 40



6

Strategy: Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local government 
funding, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability 
without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term interest 
rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it is likely to be more cost effective in the 
short-term to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead of long-term.  

By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone investment 
income) and reduce overall treasury risk. The benefits of internal/short term borrowing will be 
monitored regularly against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing 
into future years when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly. Arlingclose will 
assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis. Its output may determine 
whether the Council borrows additional sums at long-term fixed rates in 2019/20 with a view 
to keeping future interest costs low, even if this causes additional cost in the short-term.

Alternatively, the Council may arrange forward starting loans during 2019/20, where the 
interest rate is fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later years. This would enable 
certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a cost of carry in the intervening period.

In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans to cover unplanned cash flow shortages.

Sources of borrowing: The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and any successor body
• Any institution approved for investments (see below)
• Any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except the Somerset County Council 

Pension Fund)
• Capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to 

enable local authority bond issues

Other sources of debt finance: In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following 
methods that are not borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

• operating and finance leases
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback

The Council can readily access long-term borrowing from the PWLB but it continues to 
investigate other sources of finance, such as local authority loans and bank loans, which may 
be available at more favourable rates.

Municipal Bonds Agency: UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the 
Local Government Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It plans to issue bonds on the 
capital markets and lend the proceeds to local authorities.  This will be a more complicated 
source of finance than the PWLB for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to 
provide bond investors with a joint and several guarantee to refund their investment in the 
event that the agency is unable to for any reason; and there will be a lead time of several 
months between committing to borrow and knowing the interest rate payable. Any decision to 
borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a separate report to Full Council. 

Page 41



7

Short-term and variable rate loans: These loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of 
short-term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to the limit on the net exposure to 
variable interest rates in the treasury management indicators below.

Debt rescheduling: The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either 
pay a premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current interest 
rates. Other lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption terms. The 
Council may take advantage of this and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans 
without replacement, where this is expected to lead to an overall cost saving or a reduction in 
risk.

Investment Strategy

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held. In the last financial year, the Council’s 
investment balance ranged between £35 million and £75 million. As capital expenditure plans 
are implemented the investment balances are likely to fall unless these are supported through 
external funding or borrowing. 

Objectives: Both the CIPFA Code and the CLG Guidance require the Council to invest its 
funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before 
seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is 
to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses 
from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. Where balances are 
expected to be invested for more than one year, the Council will aim to achieve a total return 
that is equal or higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending 
power of the sum invested.

Strategy: Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank 
investments, the Council will further diversify into more secure and/or higher yielding asset 
classes during 2019/20.  A proportion of the Council’s surplus cash is currently invested in 
short-term unsecured bank deposits, certificates of deposit and money market funds. The 
financial strategy seeks to increase and maintain higher levels of investment income and we 
are therefore actively increasing funds held in strategic treasury investments.

Approved counterparties: The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the 
counterparty types in table 2 below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty) and the time 
limits shown. There are no proposals to change the limits through the mid-year review of the 
strategy. 

Table 2: Approved investment counterparties and limits

Credit 
rating

Banks 
unsecured

Banks
secured Government Corporates Registered 

Providers

UK Govt n/a n/a £ Unlimited
50 years n/a n/a

AAA £3 m
 5 years

£6 m
20 years

£6 m
50 years

£3 m
 20 years

£3 m
 20 years

AA+ £3 m 
5 years

£6 m
10 years

£6 m
25 years

£3 m
10 years

£3 m
10 years

AA £3 m 
4 years

£6 m
5 years

£6 m
15 years

£3 m
5 years

£3 m
10 years

Page 42



8

Credit 
rating

Banks 
unsecured

Banks
secured Government Corporates Registered 

Providers

AA- £3 m 
3 years

£6 m
4 years

£6 m
10 years

£3 m
4 years

£3 m
10 years

A+ £3 m 
2 years

£6 m
3 years

£3 m
5 years

£3 m
3 years

£3 m
5 years

A £3 m 
13 months

£6 m
2 years

£3 m
5 years

£3m
2 years

£3 m
5 years

A- £3 m
 6 months

£6 m
13 months

£3 m
 5 years

£3 m
 13 months

£3 m
 5 years

None n/a n/a £6 m
25 years* n/a £3 m

5 years
Pooled funds and real 

estate investment 
trusts

£10m (nominal value) per fund

This table must be read in conjunction with the notes below
*includes unrated UK Local Authorities 

Credit rating: Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published long-term credit 
rating from Fitch, Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s. Where available, the credit rating relevant to 
the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating 
is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, and 
all other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account.

Banks unsecured: Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds 
with banks and building societies, other than multilateral development banks. These 
investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine 
that the bank is failing or likely to fail. See below for arrangements relating to operational bank 
accounts.

Banks secured: Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other collateralised 
arrangements with banks and building societies. These investments are secured on the bank’s 
assets, which limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of insolvency, and means that 
they are exempt from bail-in. Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the 
collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the higher of the collateral 
credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash and time limits. 
The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will not exceed the cash 
limit for secured investments.

Government: Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional 
and local authorities and multilateral development banks. These investments are not subject 
to bail-in, and there is an insignificant risk of insolvency. Investments with the UK Central 
Government may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

Corporates: Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than banks and 
registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but are exposed to the risk 
of the company going insolvent.  Loans to unrated companies will only be made following an 
external credit assessment as part of a diversified pool in order to spread the risk widely.

Registered providers: Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets 
of registered providers of social housing, formerly known as housing associations.  These 
bodies are tightly regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency and, as providers of 
public services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.  

Page 43



9

Pooled funds: Shares in diversified investment vehicles consisting of the any of the above 
investment types, plus equity shares and property. These funds have the advantage of 
providing wide diversification of investment risks, coupled with the services of a professional 
fund manager in return for a fee.  Short-term Money Market Funds that offer same-day liquidity 
and very low or no volatility will be used as an alternative to instant access bank accounts, 
while pooled funds whose value changes with market prices and/or have a notice period will 
be used for longer investment periods. 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more 
volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset classes other than 
cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. Because these funds 
have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their 
performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be 
monitored regularly.

Real estate investment trusts: Shares in companies that invest mainly in real estate and pay 
the majority of their rental income to investors in a similar manner to pooled property funds. 
As with property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more 
volatile especially as the share price reflects changing demand for the shares as well as 
changes in the value of the underlying properties.

Operational bank accounts: The Council may incur operational exposures, for example 
though current accounts, collection accounts and merchant acquiring services, to any UK bank 
with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and with assets greater than £25 billion. These are not 
classed as investments, but are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will 
therefore be kept below £200,000 per bank. The Bank of England has stated that in the event 
of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 billion are more likely to be bailed-in than made 
insolvent, increasing the chance of the Council maintaining operational continuity. 

Risk assessment and credit ratings: Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the 
Council’s treasury advisers, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur.  Where an entity 
has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria then:

• no new investments will be made,
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing investments with 

the affected counterparty.

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible 
downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch negative”) so that it may 
fall below the approved rating criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn on the 
next working day will be made with that organisation until the outcome of the review is 
announced.  This policy will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction 
of travel rather than an imminent change of rating.

Other information on the security of investments: The Council understands that credit 
ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of investment default.  Full regard will therefore 
be given to other available information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it 
invests, including credit default swap prices, financial statements, information on potential 
government support and reports in the quality financial press.  No investments will be made 
with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit quality, even though it may 
meet the credit rating criteria.

Page 44



10

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all organisations, 
as happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen 
in other market measures.  In these circumstances, the Council will restrict its investments to 
those organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its 
investments to maintain the required level of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be 
in line with prevailing financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient 
commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to invest the Council’s cash 
balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the UK Government, via the Debt 
Management Office or invested in government treasury bills for example, or with other local 
authorities.  This will cause a reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will 
protect the principal sum invested.

Investment limits: The Council’s revenue reserves available to cover investment losses were 
£4.6 million on 31st March 2019.  The maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other 
than the UK Government) will be £10 million.  A group of banks under the same ownership 
will be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed on fund 
managers, investments in brokers’ nominee accounts, foreign countries and industry sectors 
as below. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count 
against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many countries.

Table 4: Investment limits
Cash limit

Any single organisation, except the UK Central Government £10m each
UK Central Government unlimited
Any group of organisations under the same ownership £20m per group
Any group of pooled funds under the same management £20m per manager
Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £30m per broker
Foreign countries £12m per country
Registered providers and registered social landlords £8m in total
Unsecured investments with building societies £8m in total
Loans to unrated corporates £4m in total
Money market funds £20m in total
Real estate investment trusts £10m in total

Liquidity management: The Council uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting software to 
determine the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is 
compiled on a prudent basis to minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow on 
unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments. Limits on long-term investments are 
set by reference to the Council’s medium-term financial plan and cash flow forecast.

Non Treasury Investments

The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised Treasury Management Code now covers all 
the financial assets of the Council as well as other non-financial assets which the Council 
holds primarily for financial return.  This is replicated in MHCLG’s Investment Guidance, in 
which the definition of investments is further broadened to also include all such assets held 
partially for financial return.

The value of the Council’s existing non-treasury investments are listed in Appendix 1A.

The Council’s commercial strategy seeks to build its investment property portfolio in order to 
increase income available to maintain services, in response to reductions in general grant 
funding from Government. Most if not all of the proposed investment will require financing to 

Page 45



11

be raised through borrowing. This will require the Council to disregard the statutory guidance 
in respect of ‘borrowing in advance of need’, and report the rationale for this. The purpose was 
clearly set out in the Council’s approved Commercial Strategy prior to the release of the latest 
Guidance, and this will be clarified further within the Capital Strategy that is brought to 
Members in February 2019.

Treasury Management Indicators

The Council measures and manages its exposure to treasury management risks using the 
following indicators.

Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 
monitoring the value-weighted average credit score of its investment portfolio.  This is 
calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the 
arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are 
assigned a score based on their perceived risk.

30/9/19 
Actual

2019/20 
Target

Portfolio average credit rating 3.3 5.0

Liquidity: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by 
monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a rolling three 
month period, without additional borrowing.

30/9/19 
Actual

2019/20 
Target

Total cash available within 3 months £12.9m £10m

Interest rate exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate 
risk.  The upper limits on fixed and variable rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the 
proportion of net principal borrowed will be:

Interest rate risk indicator 30/9/19 
Actual

2019/20 
Limit

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates £0.17m £0.20m
Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates £0.05m £0.15m

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that maturing loans 
and investment will be replaced at current rates.

Maturity structure of borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to 
refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing 
will be:

30/9/19
Actual Upper Lower

Under 12 months 100% 100% 100%
12 months and within 24 months 0% 100% 100%
24 months and within 5 years 0% 100% 100%
5 years and within 10 years 0% 100% 100%
10 years and above 0% 100% 100%

Page 46



12

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year.  The maturity date of borrowing is 
the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment.

As the council doesn’t have any fixed rated external borrowing at present the above upper and 
lower limits have been set to allow flexibility to borrow within any of the maturity bands.

Principal sums invested for periods longer than 365 days: The purpose of this indicator 
is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment 
of its investments.  The limits on the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond 
the period end were:

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Limit on principal invested beyond year end £50m £30m £25m

Other Items

There are a number of additional items that the Council is obliged by CIPFA or MHCLG to 
include in its Treasury Management Strategy.

Policy on the use of financial derivatives: Local authorities have previously made use of 
financial derivatives embedded into loans and investments both to reduce interest rate risk 
(e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the 
expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits).  The general power of 
competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much of the uncertainty over local 
authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are not embedded into a 
loan or investment). 

The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, futures 
and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of the financial 
risks that the Council is exposed to. Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to 
derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the overall level of risk. 
Embedded derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting 
transactions, will not be subject to this policy, although the risks they present will be managed 
in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy.

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the 
approved investment criteria. The current value of any amount due from a derivative 
counterparty will count against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country 
limit.

Investment training: The needs of the Council’s treasury management staff for training in 
investment management are assessed annually as part of the staff appraisal process, and 
additionally when the responsibilities of individual members of staff change.  Staff regularly 
attend training courses, seminars and conferences provided by Arlingclose and CIPFA. 
Relevant staff are also encouraged to study professional qualifications from CIPFA, the 
Association of Corporate Treasurers and other appropriate organisations.

Investment advisers: The Council has appointed Arlingclose Limited as treasury 
management advisers and receives specific advice on investment, debt and capital finance 
issues. The quality of this service is monitored by measuring: 

 The timeliness of advice
 The returns from investments

Page 47



13

 The accuracy of technical advice
 Regular market testing
 Regular internal meetings to discuss performance
 Direct access to a nominated advisor
 The quality and content of training courses

Investment of money borrowed in advance of need: The Council may, from time to time, 
borrow in advance of need, where this is expected to provide the best long-term value for 
money.  Since amounts borrowed will be invested until spent, the Council is aware that it will 
be exposed to the risk of loss of the borrowed sums, and the risk that investment and 
borrowing interest rates may change in the intervening period.  These risks will be managed 
as part of the Council’s overall management of its treasury risks.

The total amount borrowed will not exceed the authorised borrowing limit of £124 million.  The 
maximum period between borrowing and expenditure is expected to be three years, although 
the Council is not required to link particular loans with particular items of expenditure.

Minimum revenue provision (MRP): MHCLG published updated Minimum Revenue 
Provision guidance in February 2018. This includes clarification regarding the application of 
the guidance in respect of investment properties.  The 2019/20 MRP Policy Statement is 
included in Appendix 1C, to include specific provisions for investment properties. 

Financial Implications

The budget for investment income in 2019/20 is £1,498,920, based on an average investment 
portfolio of £50 million at an interest rate of 1.86%.  If actual levels of investments and 
borrowing, and actual interest rates differ from those forecast, performance against budget 
will be correspondingly different.

The budget for minimum revenue provision (MRP) for debt repayment in 2019/20 is £372,950.  

The interest received as at 30 September 2019 and the projected year-end position is included 
in Appendix 1B.

Other Options Considered

The MHCLG Guidance and the CIPFA Code do not prescribe any particular treasury 
management strategy for local authorities to adopt.  The Section 151 Officer believes that the 
above strategy represents an appropriate balance between risk management and cost 
effectiveness.  Some alternative strategies, with their financial and risk management 
implications, are listed below.

Alternative Impact on income and 
expenditure

Impact on risk management

Invest in a narrower range 
of counterparties and/or 
for shorter times

Interest income will be 
lower

Lower chance of losses from 
credit related defaults, but any 
such losses may be greater

Invest in a wider range of 
counterparties and/or for 
longer times

Interest income will be 
higher

Increased risk of losses from 
credit related defaults, but any 
such losses may be smaller

Page 48



14

Alternative Impact on income and 
expenditure

Impact on risk management

Borrow additional sums at 
long-term fixed interest 
rates

Debt interest costs will 
rise; this is unlikely to be 
offset by higher 
investment income

Higher investment balance 
leading to a higher impact in the 
event of a default; however long-
term interest costs may be more 
certain

Borrow short-term or 
variable loans instead of 
long-term fixed rates

Debt interest costs will 
initially be lower

Increases in debt interest costs 
will be broadly offset by rising 
investment income in the 
medium term, but long-term 
costs may be less certain 

Page 49



15

 
Appendix 1A – Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD

*Proposed changes to IFRS 16 (Leases) were sue to come into effect from 1 April 2019, the 
date has been revised to 1 April 2020.  The revised IFRS 16 retains the concept of operating 
and finance leases for lessors, but adopts a new accounting model for lessees that will see 
most leases come onto the balance sheet. 

This will have a significant impact upon local authorities’ accounting and capital finance 
frameworks, work is ongoing to identify and implement the changes required.  The figures 
included in the table do not take account the potential impact of the revised IFRS 16.

31/03/18
Actual
£’000

31/03/19
Actual
£’000

30/09/19
Actual
£’000

31/03/20
Estimate

£’000

31/03/21
Estimate

£’000
External Debt:
Total External Borrowing 0 19,500 39,500 50,000 75,000
Long-term liabilities

 Finance Leases* 138 138 138* 138* 138*
Total External Debt 138 19,638 39,638 50,138 75,138
Investments:
 Short term Deposits 
 Monies on call and 

Money Market Funds
 Long term Deposits
 Bonds/CDs
 Property Fund & Other 

pooled funds
Total treasury 
investments

8,000
2,230

3,000
8,814

13,000

35,044

4,000
480

1,000
2,000

23,250

30,730

4,000
1,160

1,000
2,000

23,250

31,410

3,000
1,000

3,000
2,000

25,000

35,000

3,000
1,000

3,000
2,000

30,000

39,000
Non-treasury 
investments: 
 Investment property

Total non-treasury 
investments

17,633

17,633

26,108

26,108

52,960

52,960

75,000

75,000

100,000

100,000
Total Investments 52,677 56,838 84,370 110,000 139,000

(Net Borrowing Position)/
Net Investment position

52,539 37,200 44,732 59,862 63,862

Page 50



16

Appendix 1B – Half Year Interest position & Year end Projection

INTEREST AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 & YEAR END PROJECTION

Income as at 
30 Sept 19

2019/20 
Projected 

£’000 £’000
Investments advised by Arlingclose:   
Money Market Funds (VNAV) 14 23
Diversified Income Fund (Investec) 94 224
Property Fund (CCLA) 136 270

Pooled Funds 385 771

Advised Investment Total 629 1,288

Internal Investments:   
Corporate Bonds 11 23
Floating Rate Notes (FRNs) 10 16
Fixed Term Deposits 16 62
Money Market Funds (CNAV) & Business Reserve 
Accounts 2 3

Internal Investments Total 39 104

Advised & Internal Investments Total 668 1,392

Other Interest:   
Miscellaneous Loans 675 1,452
Other Interest Total 675 1,452

Total Treasury Investment Income 1,343 2,844
Treasury Income Budget 749 1,499
Surplus 594 1,345

Page 51



17

Appendix 1C

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2019/20

1. Introduction

1.1. Where the Authority finances capital expenditure through borrowing it must put aside 
resources to repay it. This is usually undertaken by a charge to the annual revenue 
budget known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).

1.2. It is also possible to use or ‘set aside’ capital receipts to repay capital borrowing. This 
may be in lieu of and/or additional to a charge to the revenue budget.

1.3. The Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision was updated in February 2018, 
with the requirement that it is fully implemented from 2019/20 financial year. The latest 
edition provides specific guidance related to investment properties. 

1.4. The broad aim of the guidance is to require local authorities to put aside revenue over 
time to cover their Capital Financing Requirement. In doing so, local authorities should 
align the period over which they charge MRP to one that is commensurate with the 
period over which their capital expenditure provides benefits.

1.5. The Guidance requires the Council to approve an Annual MRP Statement each year, 
and recommends a number of options for calculating a prudent amount of MRP.  The 
following policy only incorporates options recommended in the Guidance. 

2. The Policy

2.1. For capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008, MRP will be determined in 
accordance with the former regulations that applied on 31st March 2008, incorporating 
an “Adjustment A” of £9,113,000.

2.2. For capital expenditure on operational assets incurred after 31st March 2008, MRP will 
be determined by charging the expenditure over the expected useful life of the relevant 
asset by either of the following methods:

a) In equal instalments
b) Using an annuity basis

2.3. For freehold land, MRP will be applied over 50 years, except where there is a structure 
on the land which the Council considers to have a life of more than 50 years where in 
such cases the longer life may also be applied to the land. 

2.4. For capital expenditure not related to council assets but which has been capitalised by 
regulation or direction (e.g. capital grants to third parties) will be charged in equal 
instalments over a period of up to 25 years.

2.5. For assets acquired by finance leases, MRP will be determined as being equal to the 
element of the rent or charge that goes to write down the lease obligation.

2.6. For investment properties, MRP will be calculated over a period of no more than 50 
years, and MRP may be calculated by either of the following methods:

Page 52



18

a) In equal instalments
b) Using an annuity basis
c) Weighted to reflect projected net income cash flows over the expected life of 

investment (up to 50 years)

2.7. MRP will be charged from the start of the financial year after the expenditure is incurred.

2.8. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for calculating the Minimum Revenue Provision 
in line with the policy approved by Full Council.

Page 53



Treasury Management Practices

Director: Netta Meadows, Director – Strategy and Support Services
Lead Officer: Paul Matravers, Specialist - Finance
Contact Details: paul.matravers@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462275

Purpose of the Report

1. To request members of the Audit Committee approve the attached Treasury Management 
Practices (TMPs).

Recommendation

2. Audit Committee is recommended to approve the Treasury Management Practices included in this 
report.

Background

3. The CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice (the Code) requires the 
setting out of the responsibilities and duties of members and officers, allowing a framework for 
reporting and decision making on all aspects of treasury management. 

4. As in previous versions, the Code recommends the creation and maintenance of suitable Treasury 
Management Practices setting out the manner in which the organisation will seek to achieve those 
policies and objectives and prescribing how it will manage and control those activities.

5. The recommended Treasury Management Practices for South Somerset District Council 
comprise:

TMP 1: Risk management
TMP 2: Performance measurement
TMP 3: Decision-making and analysis
TMP 4: Approved instruments, methods and techniques
TMP 5: Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities and dealing arrangements
TMP 6: Reporting requirements and management information arrangements
TMP 7: Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements
TMP 8: Cash and cash flow management
TMP 9: Money laundering
TMP 10: Training and qualifications
TMP 11: Use of external service providers
TMP 12: Corporate governance
TMP 13: Management Practices for Non-Treasury Investments 

6. The Treasury Management Practices principles and schedules document follows the same format 
as previous years in that the schedules supporting these practices are at a higher level giving an 
overview of the processes to be followed. The detail specifying the systems and routines to be 
employed, the records to be maintained in fulfilling the Council’s treasury functions and any other 
documents supporting the processes are held at an operational level within an operations manual. 

Page 54

Agenda Item 10

mailto:paul.matravers@southsomerset.gov.uk


Amendments to Treasury Management Practices

7. There are minimal changes to the 2019 TMP’s.  The amended TMP’s are detailed below including 
the TMP number, the section of the TMP which has been amended and details of the change.

TMP1 – Risk Management

Section 2 (Liquidity & Risk Management) – (d) Bank Overdraft & Standby Facilities

Change - The Council withdrew the overdraft facility with NatWest and manages cash flow on a day to 
day basis by using money market funds as opposed to the overdraft facility.

Section 3 (Interest Rate Risk Management) – (c) Details of approved interest rate exposure limits.

Change - CIPFA no longer recommends setting upper limits on fixed and variable rate exposures, 
therefore this has been deleted.  

The Council’s advisors suggested a replacement indicator which sets upper limits on the one-year 
revenue impact of a 1% rate rise or fall in interest rates. 

TMP8 – Cash and cash flow management

Schedule – (c) Monitoring, frequency of cash flow updates

Change - 2 new income streams have been included, which are:

 Rental income received from property portfolios
 Income from loans supporting service outcomes

TMP 11 -  Use of external service providers

Schedule – (d) Consultants’/advisers’ services

Change – New contract awarded with effect from 1 July 2019, dates amended for contract start and 
expiry date and payment due information.

Financial Implications

8. There are no financial implications in accepting this report and the associated recommendations.

Background Papers:

Treasury Management Strategy Statement

Page 55



Treasury Management Practices

Principles and Schedules

September 2019

Page 56



Introduction

The CIPFA  Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice (the Code) was revised 
in December 2017.  The Code has been reviewed and updated following recent developments in 
the marketplace and the introduction of the Localism Act 2011 for English local authorities which 
gives local authorities the ‘general power of competence’ and enhances the freedoms within which 
local authorities operate. Regulations require local authorities to have regard to the Code in 
respect of its treasury management arrangements.

The Code requires for the setting out of the responsibilities and duties of members and officers, 
allowing a framework for reporting and decision making on all aspects of treasury management.   
This includes recommendations for the authority to create and maintain:

 A Treasury Management Policy Statement, stating the policies and objectives of its treasury 
management activities;

 Suitable Treasury Management Practices setting out the manner in which the organisation 
will seek to achieve those policies and objectives and prescribing how it will manage and 
control those activities.

The Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) comprise:

TMP 1: Risk management
TMP 2: Performance management
TMP 3: Decision-making and analysis
TMP 4: Approved instruments, methods and techniques
TMP 5: Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities and dealing arrangements
TMP 6: Reporting requirements and management information arrangements
TMP 7: Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements
TMP 8: Cash and cash flow management
TMP 9: Money laundering
TMP 10: Training and qualifications
TMP 11: Use of external service providers
TMP 12: Corporate governance
TMP 13: Management Practices for non-treasury investments 

Page 57



TMP 1: Risk management

All treasury management activities involve both risk and the pursuit of reward or gain for the 
Council. The Council’s policies and practices emphasise that the effective identification, 
management and containment of risk are the prime objectives of treasury management activities.

The responsible officer will design, implement and monitor all arrangement for the identification, 
management and control of treasury management risk, will report at least annually on the 
adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report as a matter of urgency, the circumstances of any actual 
or likely difficulty in achieving the organisation’s objectives in this respect, all in accordance with 
the procedures set out in TMP 6: Reporting requirements and management information 
arrangements.  

1. Credit and counterparty risk management:

Credit and counterparty risk is the risk of failure by a third party to meet its contractual 
obligations to the Council under an investment, borrowing, capital project or partnership 
financing, particularly as a result of the third party’s diminished creditworthiness, and the 
resulting detrimental effect on the Council’s capital and revenue resources.

Principle: The Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the 
security of the principal sums it invests.  Accordingly, it will ensure that robust due diligence 
procedures cover all external investment.  It will also ensure that its counterparty lists and limits 
reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with whom funds may be deposited, and will limit 
its investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP 4: 
Approved instruments, methods and techniques.  The Council also recognises the need to 
maintain a formal counterparty policy in respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, 
or with whom it may enter into other financing arrangements.

Schedules:

A. Criteria to be used for creating/managing approved counterparty lists/limits

 The S151 Officer is responsible for setting prudent criteria, taking appropriate advice, 
guidance and assistance from the Council’s treasury advisors. 

 The criteria will be agreed by Audit Committee and Full Council.
 The current criteria is contained within the operations manual.
 The Council’s treasury management advisors will advise on credit policy and 

creditworthiness related issues.
 The Council will maintain a counterparty list based on its criteria and will monitor and 

update the credit standing of the institutions on a regular basis.  This assessment will 
include consideration of credit ratings from all 3 ratings agencies and other alternative 
assessments of credit strength (for example, statements of potential government support 
which now includes resolution mechanisms for failing financial institutions, Credit Default 
Swap information, the composition of an institution’s balance sheet liabilities).  The Council 
will also take into account information on corporate developments of and market sentiment 
towards investment counterparties.

 The credit rating criteria will also apply to securities issued by financial and non-financial 
institutions, which in some instances, might be higher than that of the issuing institution.

 Higher time and cash limits may be set for secured investments (e.g. those with underlying 
collateral or which are by regulation excluded from being bailed-in/restructured in the event 
of financial distress).

 Where there is no investment-specific rating, but collateral upon which the investment 
secured is rated, then the higher of the collateral and counterparty rating will be used to 
determine time and cash limits.

Page 58



B. Approved methodology for changing limits and adding/removing counterparties

 The S151 Officer has delegated responsibility to add or delete counterparties and to review 
limits within the parameters of the criteria detailed above

 Where an entity’s credit rating is downgraded so that it fails to meet the minimum criteria 
then:

o No new investments will be made
o Any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be
o Full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of other existing investments 

with the affected counterparty.

Where a credit rating is placed on review for possible downgrade (also termed ‘rating watch 
negative’ or ‘credit watch negative’) so that it may fall below the minimum approved credit criteria, 
then only investments that can be withdrawn on the next working day will be made with that 
organisation until the rating review has been completed and its outcome known.

C. Counterparty list and limits

 A full individual listing of banking counterparties based on the criteria will be maintained.  
As credit ratings etc. are subject to change without notice, an up-to-date lending list will be 
maintained on an ongoing basis within the operations manual.

D. Country, sector and group listings of counterparties and overall limits applied to each where 
appropriate

 Investments will be displayed so as to show total group exposure, total country exposure 
and total sector exposure.  Group limits have been set for the above in terms of monetary 
value/percentage of overall portfolio, where appropriate.  Group limits for organisation 
under the same ownership will be set at the same level as the lead institution in that group.

E. Details of credit rating agencies’ services and their application

 The Council considers the ratings of all 3 ratings agencies (Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s 
and Fitch) when making investment decisions.  Credit rating agency information is just one 
of a range of instruments used to assess creditworthiness of institutions.

 No investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its 
credit quality, even though it may meet the minimum credit rating criteria.

F. Description of the general approach to collecting/using information other than credit ratings for 
counterparty risk assessment

 The Council’s Treasury Advisor, Arlingclose, provides timely information on counterparties, 
in terms of credit rating updates and economic summaries.  Credit default swap information 
is received monthly, as well as information of share price.  The Council’s Treasury Advisor 
also undertakes analysis on the balance sheet structure of key banking institutions to help 
inform the potential restructure (i.e. bail-in) of a bank’s unsecured liabilities should this be 
required by the regulatory authorities.  In addition, the S151 Officer reads quality financial 
press for information on counterparties

2. Liquidity Risk Management:

Liquidity risk is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective 
management of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the Council’s 
business/service objective will be thereby compromised.

Principle: The S151 Officer will ensure the Council has adequate (though not excessive) cash 
resources, borrowing arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have 

Page 59



the level of funds available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its business/service 
objectives.

The Council will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business case for doing so 
and will only do so for the approved capital programme or to fund future debt maturities.

Schedules:

A. Cash flow and cash balances 

 The Council will aim for effective cash flow forecasting and monitoring of cash balances 
and will maintain a rolling minimum 6 month cash flow forecast.

 The treasury team will seek to optimise the balance held in the Council’s main bank 
accounts at the close of each working day in order to minimise the amount of bank 
overdraft interest payable or maximise the amount of interest that can be earned.

 In order to achieve the maximum return from investments, a daily cash balance of +/- 
£100,000 is the objective for the Council’s current account

B. Short term investments

 The Council uses various Reserve Accounts and Money Market Funds to manage its 
liquidity requirements.  These accounts/funds are named on the Council’s approved 
counterparty list.  The maximum balance on each of these accounts is reviewed and set as 
part of the Council’s investment strategy.

C. Temporary Borrowing

 Temporary borrowing up to 364 days through the money market is available should there 
be a cash flow deficit at any point during the year.

 At no time will the outstanding total of temporary and long-term borrowing together with any 
bank overdraft exceed the Council-approved Prudential Indicator for the Authorised 
Borrowing Limit.

D. Bank overdraft and standby facilities

 The Council has an authorised overdraft limit with Natwest of £500,000 at an agreed rate of 
1% over base rate.  The facility is used as a contingency when temporary borrowing is 
difficult or more expensive, or for amounts of less than £200,000. 

3. Interest Rate Risk Management:

Interest Rate risk is the risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates create an 
unexpected or unbudgeted burden on the Council’s finances, against which the Council has 
failed to protect itself adequately.

Principle: The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to 
containing its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts 
provided in its budgetary arrangements as amended in accordance with TMP6 Reporting 
requirements and management information arrangements.

Schedules:

A. Minimum/maximum proportions of fixed/variable rate debt/interest

 Borrowing/investments may be at a fixed or variable rate

Page 60



 The Prudential Code requires the Council to determine each year the maximum proportion 
of interest payable on net borrowing which is subject to fixed and variable interest rates.  
This is set each year within the Treasury Management Strategy.

 In setting its Treasury Strategy on an annual basis, the Council will determine the 
necessary degree of certainty required for its plans and budgets but will, at the same time, 
allow sufficient flexibility to enable it to benefit from potentially advantageous changes in 
market conditions and level of interest rates and also to mitigate the effect of potentially 
disadvantageous changes.

 The Council will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment 
instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and 
revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility.

B. Managing changes to interest rate levels

 The main impact of changes in interest rate levels is to monies borrowed and invested at 
variable rates of interest.

 The Council will consider matching borrowing at variable rates with investments similarly 
exposed to changes in interest rates as a way of mitigating any adverse budgetary impact.

 The Council may determine it is more cost effective in the short-term to fund its borrowing 
requirement through the use of internal resources (‘internal borrowing’) or through 
borrowing short-term loans.  The benefits of such borrowing will be monitored regularly 
against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing or refinancing in 
future years when interest rates are expected to be higher.

 Alternatively, the Council may consider forward starting loans where the interest rate is 
fixed in advance but the cash is received in later years.  This would enable certainty of cost 
to be achieved without suffering a ‘cost of carry’ in the intervening period.

 Interest rate forecasts are provided by the Council’s advisors and are closely monitored by 
the treasury team.  Variations from original estimates and their impact on the Council’s debt 
and investments are notified to the Audit Committee as necessary.

 For its investments, the Council also considers dealing from forward periods dependent 
upon market conditions.  The Council’s counterparty term limits will apply and will include 
the forward period of the investment.

C. Details of approved interest rate exposure limits

 The upper limits on net fixed interest rate and net variable interest rate exposures are 
determined each year as part of the Treasury Management indicators included in the 
Treasury Management Strategy.

 The upper limits on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates are 
determined each year as part of the Treasury Management indicators included in the 
Treasury Management Strategy

D. Details of hedging tools used to manage risk

 The Council’s legal power to use derivative instruments remains unclear.  The General 
Power of Competence enshrined in the Localism Act is not sufficiently explicit.  
Consequently, the Council does not intend to use derivatives to manage interest rate risk.

 Should this position change, the Council will develop a detailed risk management 
framework governing the use of derivatives, which will require full Council approval.

4. Exchange Rate Risk Management:  

The risk that the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an unexpected or 
unbudgeted burden on the Council’s finances against which the Council has failed to 
protect itself adequately.

Page 61



Principle: The Council will ensure that it protects itself adequately against the risk of fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates creating an unexpected or unbudgeted burden on the Council’s finances.  It 
will manage any exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates so as to minimise any detrimental 
impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels.

Schedule:

A. Exchange rate risk management

 This Council does not, on a day to day basis, have foreign currency transactions or 
receipts.  Unexpected receipt of foreign currency will be converted to sterling at the earliest 
opportunity.

 If the Council has a contractual obligation to make a payment in a currency other than 
sterling then forward foreign exchange transactions will be considered, with professional 
advice.

 At the present time statute prevents the Council borrowing in currencies other than Sterling.  
The Council has determined that all its investments will be in sterling.

5. Inflation risk (also called purchasing power risk):

The risk that the cash flows from an investment won’t be worth as much in the future 
because of changes in purchasing power due to inflation.

Principle:  The Council will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and liabilities to 
inflation, and will seek to manage the risk accordingly in the context of the whole organisation’s 
inflation exposures.

Schedule:

A. Inflation rate risk management

 In the current era of relatively low inflation, its impact on future income and expenditure 
streams is minimal.

 Although inflation is currently relatively low, consideration of this risk will continue to be part 
of the overall treasury strategy.

6. Refinancing Risk Management:

The risk that maturing borrowing, capital, project or partnership financing cannot be 
refinanced on terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation for such 
refinancing, both capital and current (revenue), and/or that the terms are inconsistent with 
prevailing market conditions at the time.

Principle: The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership 
arrangements are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies 
so raised are managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, 
which are competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the 
light of market conditions prevailing at the time.  

It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a 
manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid over reliance on any one source of funding if this 
might jeopardise achievement of the above.

Schedules:

Page 62



A. Projected capital investment requirements

 3 to 5 year projections are maintained for capital expenditure and financing.  Financing will 
be from capital receipts, reserves, revenue contributions, grants or contributions received, 
internal or external borrowing.

 As required by the Prudential Code, the Council will undertake options appraisal to evaluate 
the best capital expenditure financing route.

 The Council’s projected long-term borrowing requirement will be linked to the projected 
Capital Financing Requirement.

B. Debt profiling, policies and practices

 Any longer term borrowing will be undertaken in accordance with the Prudential Code and 
will comply with the Council’s Prudential Indicators, the approved Treasury Management 
Strategy and Capital Strategy.

 The Council will maintain through its treasury and capital systems reliable records of the 
terms and maturities of its borrowing, capital, project and partnership funding and, where 
appropriate, plan and successfully negotiate terms for its refinancing.

 Where the lender to the Council is a commercial body the Council will aim for diversification 
in order to spread risk and avoid over-reliance on a small number of counterparties.

C. Policy concerning limits on revenue consequences of capital financing

 The revenue consequences of financing the capital programme are included in cash flow 
models, annual revenue budget estimates and medium term forecasts.

7. Legal and Regulatory Risk Management: 

The risk that the Council, or a third party with which it is dealing in its treasury management 
activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or regulatory requirements, and 
that the Council suffers losses accordingly.

Principle: The Council will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with its 
statutory powers and regulatory requirements.  It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to 
do so, to all parties with whom it deals in such activities.  In framing its credit and counterparty 
policy under TMP1 (A) Credit and counterparty risk management, it will ensure that there is 
evidence of counterparties’ powers. Authority and compliance in respect of the transactions they 
may effect with the Council, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged.

The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its treasury 
management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to minimise the risk of 
these impacting adversely on the organisation.

Schedules:

A. References to relevant statutes and regulations

 The treasury management activities of the Council shall comply fully with legal statute and 
the regulations of the Council.  These are:

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code of Practice 20172001 and subsequent 
amendments

 CIPFA Guide for Chief Financial Officers on Treasury Management in Local Authorities
 CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities and subsequent 

amendments
 CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management
 The Local Government Act 2003

Page 63



 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 SI 
2003 No 3146, and subsequent amendments

 The MHCLG’s statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)  
 The ODPM’s (now CLG’s) MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Local Government 

Investments in England issued March 2004 and subsequent amendments 
 The Local Authorities (Contracting out of Investment Functions) Order 1996 SI 1996 No 

1883
 LAAP Bulletins
 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom based on 

International Financial Reporting Standards (from 2010/11 onwards)
 Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003, as amended together with CLG’s Guidance 
 The Localism Act 2011
 The Non Investment Products Code (formerly known as The London Code of Conduct) 

for principals and broking firms in the wholesale markets
 Council’s Constitution including:-

o Standing Order relating to Contracts
o Financial Regulations
o Scheme of Delegation

B. Procedures for evidencing the organisation’s powers/authorities to counterparties

 The Council’s Financial Procedure Rules contain evidence of the power/ authority to act as 
required by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, under the general direction of 
the Audit Committee.

 The Council will confirm, if requested to do so by counterparties, the powers and authorities 
under which the Council effects transactions with them.

 Where required, the Council will also establish the powers of those with whom they enter 
into transactions, including any compliance requirements in respect of a duty of care and 
best practice.

C. Required information from counterparties concerning their powers/ authorities

 Lending shall only be made to institutions on the Council’s authorised lending list or in 
securities which meet the Council’s approved credit criteria.   

 The Council will only undertake borrowing from approved sources such as the PWLB, 
organisations such as the European Investment Bank and from any other bank or building 
society authorised to operate in the UK thereby minimising legal and regulatory risk. The list 
of approved sources of borrowing is contained in TMP 4.

D. Statement on political risks and management of the same

 Political risk is managed by:
 adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice
 adherence to Corporate Governance (TMP 12 – Corporate Governance)
 adherence to the Statement of Professional Practice by the S151 Officer
 the roles of the Audit Committee

Page 64



8. Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management:

This is the risk that the Council fails to identify the circumstances in which it may be 
exposed to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its 
treasury management dealings, and fails to employ suitable systems and procedures and 
maintain effective contingency management arrangements to these ends. It includes the 
area of risk referred to as operational risk.

Principle: The Council will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to 
the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its treasury management 
dealings.  Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain effective 
contingency management arrangements, to these ends.

Schedule:

A. Details of systems and procedures to be followed, including Internet services

 Segregation of duties minimises the possibility of fraud and loss due to error and is detailed 
in TMP 5 Organisation, Clarity and segregation of responsibilities and, dealing 
arrangements.

1. Electronic Banking and Dealing
a) The Council’s online banking service provided by Natwest is subject to separate log-

on and password control allowing varying levels of access.  Details of transactions 
and balances are available as required, and the system also holds historic data.

b) Access to the Council’s Treasury management drive is limited to those roles listed 
below, each having a separate log-on and password.

S151 Officer
Lead Specialist - Finance
Finance Specialists x 3 
Support Services Case Services Officers x 2

c) Full procedure notes covering the day to day operation of the on-line banking 
system and the treasury management systems are documented and included within 
the operations manual.

2. Standard Settlement Instructions
a) A list is maintained of named officers who have the authority to transact loans and 

investments.
b) Brokers and counterparties with whom the Council deals direct are provided a copy 

of the Standard Settlement Instructions list.

3. Payment authorisation
a) Payments can only be approved by authorised signatories of the Council, the list of 

signatories having previously been agreed with the Council’s bank.
b) Inflow and outflow of monies borrowed and invested will only be from the 

counterparty’s bank accounts.

B. Verification

 Loans and investments will be maintained in registers which will include fees and brokerage 
paid.

 Transactions will be cross checked against broker notes, counterparty confirmations and 
PWLB loan schedules by verifying dates, amounts, interest rates, maturity, interest 
payment dates etc.

 When receiving requests for change of payment details. Due care will be exercised to 
ascertain the bona fide of the request and avoid potential fraud.  Additional checks will be 
made through pre-existing contact details for the payee before amending payment details.

Page 65



C. Substantiation

 The Treasury Management spreadsheets are reconciled with financial ledger codes at the 
end of each month and at the financial year end. 

 Working papers are retained for audit inspection. 
 The bank reconciliation is carried out monthly from the bank statement to the financial 

system.

D. Internal Audit

 Internal Audit carry out regular reviews of the treasury management function including 
probity testing. See TMP7 Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements.

E. Contingency Management

 All treasury spreadsheets are retained on the Council’s network.  Daily back-ups are taken 
and maintained and network back-ups can be used by the IT department to restore files, if 
necessary.

 If the electronic banking system fails, the Council have to contact the bank via telephone 
who will provide balances for the day.  If any CHAPS payments are to be made manual 
forms are completed and faxed/taken to the bank before 12 noon so they can be processed 
on the Council’s behalf.

F. Insurance Cover details

 The Council has Fidelity guarantee insurance cover.  Details of the provider and cover are 
held by the Support Services Case Services Officer.

9. Price Risk Management: 

This is the risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums 
the Council borrows and invests, its stated treasury management policies and objectives are 
compromised, against which effects it has failed to protect itself adequately.

Principle: This Council will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and 
objectives will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal 
sums it invests, and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations.

Schedules:

A. Details of approved procedures and limits for controlling exposure to investments whose capital 
value may fluctuate (gilts, CDs etc)

 Investment instruments used by the external fund managers are subject to fluctuation in 
capital movements and exposed to interest rate risk.  In order to minimise these risks, 
capital preservation is set as the primary objective and pursuit of investment performance 
should be commensurate with this objective.

 Additionally, should the Council have segregated fund management arrangements, then 
risk control guidelines will be set for each fund management agreement to control market 
risk: 

(a) Maximum weighted average duration of the fund; 
(b) Maximum permitted exposure to gilts/bonds;
(c) Maximum maturity of any instrument.

B.  Accounting for unrealised gains/losses

Page 66



 The method of accounting for unrealised gains or losses on the valuation of financial assets 
comply with the Accounting Code of Practice

 Variable Net Asset Value pooled funds will be treated as Available for Sale Assets. 
Segregated fund with external managers will be treated as Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss.

TMP 2: Performance Measurement

The Council is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its treasury management 
activities, and to the use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the 
framework set out in its treasury management policy statement.

Principle: The treasury management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the value it 
adds in support of the Council’s stated business or service objectives.  It will be the subject of 
regular examination of alternative methods of service delivery, or the availability of fiscal or other 
grant or subsidy incentives, and of the scope for other potential improvements.  The performance 
of the treasury management function will be measured using the criteria set out below.

Schedules:

A. Policy concerning methods for testing value for money

 Best value reviews will include the production of plans to review the way services are 
provided in order to pursue continuous improvement in the way the Council’s functions are 
exercised, having regard to a combination of value for money, efficiency and effectiveness, 
by:

a) Challenging
b) Comparing performance
c) Consulting with other users and interested parties
d) Applying competition principles

B. Policy concerning methods for performance measurement

 Performance measurement is intended to calculate the effectiveness of treasury activity in 
delivering the strategic objectives set through the Treasury Management Strategy and the 
Council’s Prudential Indicators and to enhance accountability.  

 Prudential Indicators are local to the Council and are not intended as a comparator 
between authorities. 

 The performance review will be made in the light of general trends in interest rates during 
the year and how the decisions made corresponded with these trends and the Council’s 
agreed strategy, i.e. the Council will avoid hindsight analysis.  

 Any comparison of the Council’s treasury portfolio against recognised industry standards, 
market indices and other portfolios is intended to:

a) Allow the Council the opportunity to assess the potential to add value through 
changes to the existing ways in which its portfolio is managed and 

b) Permit an informed judgement about the merits or otherwise of using new treasury 
management techniques or instruments.

 In drawing any conclusions, the Council will bear in mind that the characteristics of its 
treasury operations may differ from those of other Councils, particularly with regard to the 
position on risk.

C. Methodology to be applied for evaluating the impact of treasury management decisions

Page 67



 Monitoring of the outcome of treasury management activity against Prudential Indicators 
approved by the Council will be carried out by the Lead Finance Specialist, with financial 
implications included in budget monitoring reports.

 The mid-year and year-end Treasury Performance Reports will also include performance 
and narrative in meeting the approved Prudential Indicators.     

 The Council’s Treasury Management advisors compare the performance of the Council’s 
in-house funds against all its other clients and submits the results quarterly to the S151 
Officer.

D. Benchmarks and calculation methodology with regard to risk and return

 Investment returns are compared to the 7-day LIBID benchmark. For Internally Managed 
Investment Returns - total interest accruing during the month or year on average daily 
balances invested during the calendar month.

E. Best Value 

 The treasury management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the value it 
adds in support of the Council’s stated corporate and service objectives. 

 When tendering for treasury-related or banking services, the Council adheres to its 
Financial Regulations.  

TMP 3: Decision Making and Analysis

Principle: The Council will maintain full records of its treasury management decisions, and of the 
processes and practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of learning 
from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that all issues 
relevant to those decisions were taken into account at the time. The issues to be addressed and 
processes and practices to be pursued in reaching decisions are detailed below.

Schedules:

A. Major treasury decisions

 As a public service organisation, there is a requirement to demonstrate openness and 
accountability in treasury management activities.  Accordingly, the Council will create and 
maintain an audit trail of major treasury management decisions which comprise either:

a) Changes to Prudential Indicator(s) during the course of the financial year
b) Options Appraisal to determine a funding decision
c) Raising a new long-term loan / long-term source of finance
d) Prematurely restructuring/redeeming an existing long-term loan(s)
e) Investing longer-term (i.e. in excess of 1 year)
f) Utilisation of investment instruments which constitute capital expenditure (i.e. loan 

capital/share capital in a corporate body)
g) Leasing
h) Change in banking arrangements
i) Appointing/replacing a treasury advisor
j) Appointing/replacing a fund manager

B. Process

 The Council’s strategy for the application of its treasury policy is set out in the Treasury 
Management Strategy.

Page 68



 Based on the Treasury Management Strategy, the Specialist - Finance will on a monthly 
basis prepare 24 month rolling forecasts of the financing, borrowing and surplus cash 
requirements of the Council, for the purpose of:
 applying the strategy on a day to day basis
 monitoring the results of the strategy
 recommending amendments to the strategy to the Audit Committee where applicable 

during the course of the year.

C. Delegated powers for treasury management

 The S151 Officer has delegated powers to carry out the Council’s strategy for debt 
management, capital finance and borrowing, depositing surplus funds and managing the 
cash flows of the Council.  

D. Issues to be addressed, evaluation, authorisation

 In exercising these powers, the S151 Officer and those to whom the treasury activity has 
been delegated will 
 Have regard to the nature and extent of any associated risks to which the Council may 

become exposed
 Be certain about the legality of the decision reached and that the necessary authority to 

proceed has been obtained
 Be satisfied that the documentation is adequate to deliver the Council’s objectives, 

protect the Council’s interests, and to maintain an effective audit trail
 Ensure that the perceived credit risk associated with the approved counterparties is 

judged satisfactory and is within agreed limits
 Be satisfied that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked against the 

market, and have been found to be competitive
 Follow best practice in implementing the treasury transaction.

 In exercising Borrowing and Funding decisions, the responsible person will

 Evaluate economic and market factors that may influence the manner and timing of any 
decision to fund

 Consider alternative forms of funding, including use of revenue resources, leasing and 
private partnerships

 Consider the use of internal resources and/or, the most appropriate periods to fund and 
repayment profiles to use

 Consider ongoing revenue liabilities created
 Where applicable, monitor regularly the benefits of internal borrowing against the 

potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years.

 In exercising Investment decisions, the responsible person will

 Determine that the investment is within the Council’s strategy and pre-determined 
instruments and criteria;

 Consider the optimum period, in the light of core balances and reserves, cash flow 
availability and prevailing market conditions;

 Consider the risk associated with unsecured investments with banks and building 
societies

 Consider the alternative investment products and techniques available if appropriate.

E. Processes to be followed

 The processes to be followed will be in keeping with TMP 4: The Council’s Approved, 
Instruments, Methods and Techniques.

Page 69



F. Evidence and records to be kept

 The Council will maintain a record of all major treasury management decisions, the 
processes undertaken and the rationale for reaching the decision made.  These will allow 
for a historical assessment of decisions made and verification that any checks and 
safeguards are indeed in place and operating correctly.

 Records and working papers will be securely stored and maintained in line with proper 
accounting practice and the Council’s record management policies.

TMP 4: Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques

Principle: The Council will undertake its treasury management activities by employing only those 
instruments, methods and techniques detailed in the schedule to this document, and within the 
limits and parameters defined in TMP1 Risk Management.

The Council has reviewed its classification with financial institutions under MiFID II and has set out 
in the schedule those organisations with which it is registered as a professional client. If not 
registered as a professional client the Council, by default is treated as a retail client by financial 
institutions.

Schedules:

A. Approved treasury management activities

 The Council is permitted to undertake the following activities
 Managing cash flow
 Capital financing 
 Borrowing including debt restructuring and debt repayment
 Lending including redemption of investments
 Banking
 Leasing
 Managing the underlying risk associated with the Council’s capital financing and surplus 

funds activities. 

 The above list is not finite and the Council would, from time to time, consider and determine 
new financial instruments and treasury management techniques; however, the Council will 
consider carefully whether the officers have the skills and experience to identify and 
manage the advantages and risks associated with using the instruments/techniques before 
undertaking them, more so as some risks may not be wholly or immediately transparent.

B. Approved capital financing methods and types/sources of funding

 On balance sheet
 Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) loans and any successor body
 Long term money market loans including forward starting loans and LOBOs
 Temporary money market loans (up to 364 days).
 Bank overdraft
 Loans from bodies such as the European Investment Bank (EIB)
 Stock issues
 Deferred Purchase
 Government and EU Capital Grants
 Lottery monies
 Other Capital Grants and Contributions
 Private Finance Initiative
 Operating and finance leases

Page 70



 Hire Purchase
 Sale and leaseback

 Internal Resources
 Capital Receipts
 Revenue Balances
 Reserves

 Approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing include
 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and its successor body
 Any institution approved for investments
 Any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
 UK public and private sector pension funds
 UK Municipal Bonds Agency and other special purpose vehicles created to enable local 

authority bond issues

 The level of debt will be consistent with the Treasury Management Strategy and the 
Prudential Indicators.

C. Approved investment instruments

 The Council will determine through its Annual Investment Strategy (AIS) which instruments 
it will use, giving priority to the security and liquidity (in that order) of its invested monies.  
The investments will be categorised as ‘Specified’ or ‘Non Specified’ based on the criteria 
set out in the MHCLG Investment Guidance 2018 (as amended). 

 The Council will determine through the AIS which instruments will be used in-house and 
which will be used by the appointed external fund manager(s) including the maximum 
exposure for each category of non-specified investments.  Where applicable, the Council’s 
credit criteria will also apply.

 Deposits with the UK government, the Debt Management Account Deposit Facility 
(DMADF), and UK local authorities

 Banks and building societies unsecured short-term (call and notice accounts, deposits, 
certificates of deposit)

 Investments in Money Market Funds, i.e. ‘AAA’ liquidity funds with a 60-day Weighted 
Average Maturity (WAM) 

 Treasury Bills
 Gilts
 Bonds issued by multilateral development banks
 Sterling denominated bonds by non-UK sovereign governments
 Covered bonds (i.e. those with underlying collateral)
 Unsecured corporate bonds
 Reverse Repurchase Agreements (‘reverse repos’)
 Investments with Registered Providers of Social Housing (i.e. housing associations)
 Commercial paper
 Floating Rate Notes
 Real estate investment trusts
 Pooled funds, i.e. Collective Investment schemes as defined in SI 2004 No 534 and 

subsequent amendments 

 The use of the above instruments by the Council’s fund manager(s) will be by reference to 
the fund guidelines contained in the agreement between the Council and the manager

D. Use of Derivatives

Page 71



 The Council intends to use derivative instruments for the management of risks, limited to 
those set out in the annual treasury strategy. The Council will seek proper advice and will 
consider that advice when entering into arrangements to use such products to ensure that it 
fully understands those products.

 Currently, Local Authorities’ legal power to use derivative instruments remains unclear. The 
General Power of Competence enshrined in the Localism Act is not sufficiently explicit. 
Consequently, the Authority does not intend to use derivatives. Should this position change, 
the Authority may seek to develop a detailed and robust risk management framework 
governing the use of derivatives, but this change in strategy will require full Council 
approval.

TMP 5: Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities and dealing arrangements

Principle: The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring 
of its treasury management activities, for the reduction of the risk of fraud or error, and for the 
pursuit of optimum performance, that these activities are structured and managed in a fully 
integrated manner, and that there is at all times a clarity of treasury management responsibilities.

The principle on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those charged with setting 
treasury management policies and those charged with implementing and controlling these policies, 
particularly with regard to the execution and transmission of funds, the recording and administering 
of treasury management decisions, and the audit and review of the treasury management function.

If and when the Council intends, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances, to depart 
from these principles, the responsible officer will ensure that the reasons are properly reported in 
accordance with TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements, and 
the implications properly considered and evaluated.

The responsible officer will ensure that there are clear written statements of the responsibilities for 
each post engaged in treasury management, and the arrangements for absence cover.  The 
responsible officer will also ensure that at all times those engaged in treasury management will 
follow the policies and procedures set out. The present arrangements are detailed in the schedule 
below. 

The responsible officer will ensure there is proper documentation for all deals and transactions, and 
that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds. The present arrangements are detailed 
in the schedule below.

The delegations to the responsible officer in respect of treasury management are set out in the 
schedule below.  The responsible officer will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance with the 
organisation’s policy statement and TMPs and, if a CIPFA member, the Standard of Professional 
Practice on Treasury Management.

Schedules:

A. Limits to responsibilities at Executive levels

Council
 Budget consideration and approval.
 Approval of amendments to the Treasury Management Strategy, the organisation’s 

adopted clauses and treasury management policy statement 
 Approval of annual report on Treasury Management 

Page 72



Audit Committee
 Receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 

activities
 Receiving and reviewing Prudential Indicators as part of the budget setting process 
 Receiving and reviewing external audit reports and acting on recommendations
 Approving the Treasury Management Practices
 Approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 

appointment
 Overview of Treasury Management function

B. Principles and practices concerning segregation of duties

 Officers involved in the daily banking task are not to undertake bank reconciliation 
duties.

 Authorised signatories signing CHAPS forms are not to authorise that payment on the 
Bankline system.

Page 73



C. Statement of duties/responsibilities of each treasury post

Section 151 Officer

Lead Specialist - Finance Deputy Section 151 Officer
Supervise the Finance Specialist

Finance Specialist Supervise Treasury Mgt Staff
Lead on reports and strategy
Supervise the daily banking task
Manage long & short-term cashflow 
requirements
Sickness and absence cover for the Case 
Services Officer (JP)

Case Services Officers Case Services Officer 
(JP)

Sickness & absence 
cover for the Case 
Services Officer (JP)

Daily banking task
Temporary investments 
& borrowing
Short term cashflow 

S151 Officer

 The S151 Officer will:
a) Regularly review and recommend treasury management policy and practices for 

approval, and monitor compliance
b) Determine Prudential Indicators, Treasury Management Strategy (including the 

Annual Investment Strategy) and Capital Strategy
c) Submit regular treasury management policy reports
d) Submit budgets and budget variations
e) Receive and review management information reports
f) Review the performance of the treasury management function and promote best 

value reviews
g) Ensure the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective 

division of responsibilities within the treasury management function
h) Ensure the adequacy of internal audit
i) Liaise with external audit
j) Recommend the appointment of external service providers.

 The S151 Officer has delegated powers through this policy to take the most appropriate 
form of borrowing from the approved sources, and to take the most appropriate form of 
investments in approved instruments.

Page 74



 The S151 Officer may delegate powers to borrow and invest to specified staff members.  
The Lead Specialist - Finance, Finance Specialist, Case Services Officers or other staff 
authorised by the S151 Officer to act as temporary cover for leave/sickness, must conduct 
all dealing transactions. All transactions must be authorised by at least two of the named 
officers above.

 The S151 Officer will ensure that the Policy is adhered, and if not will bring the matter to the 
attention of elected members as soon as possible. 

 Prior to entering into any capital financing, lending or investment transaction, it is the 
responsibility of the S151 Officer to be satisfied, by reference to the Monitoring Officer 
(Lead Specialist - Legal), the Council’s legal department and external advisors as 
appropriate, that the proposed transaction does not breach any statute, external regulation 
or the Council’s Financial Regulations.

 It is also the responsibility of the S151 Officer to ensure that the Council complies with the 
requirements of The Non Investment Products Code (formerly known as The London Code 
of Conduct) for principals and broking firms in the wholesale markets.

Finance Specialist

The responsibilities of this post will be:-
a) Adherence to agreed policies and practices on a day-to-day basis
b) Supervising activities of treasury management staff
c) Monitoring performance on a day-to-day basis
d) Monitoring the Treasury Management Budget
e) Managing long and short term cash flow
f) Overseeing and authorising execution of transactions
g) Submitting management information reports to the responsible officer

Chief Executive Officer

The responsibilities of this post will be: -
a) Ensuring that the system is specified and implemented
b) Ensuring that the S151 Officer reports regularly to the responsible committee/the Council 

on treasury policy, activity and performance.

Monitoring Officer

The responsibilities of this post will be: -

a) Ensuring compliance by the S151 Officer with the treasury management policy statement 
and treasury management practices and that they comply with the law

b) Being satisfied that any proposal to vary treasury policy or practice complies with law or 
any code of practice

c) Giving advice to the S151 Officer when advice is sought.

Internal Audit (SWAP)

The responsibilities of Internal Audit will be: -
a) Reviewing compliance with approved policy and procedures
b) Reviewing division of duties and operational practice
c) Assessing value for money from treasury activities
d) Undertaking probity audit of treasury function.

D. Absence cover arrangements

Page 75



 In the absence of the S151 Officer, the Lead Specialist – Finance (Deputy S151 Officer) 
shall take on board the responsibilities and duties of the S151 Officer.

 Under the supervision of the Specialist Finance, the general day to day activities shall be 
undertaken by the Case Services Officer (JP).  However, this may from time to time passed 
to other Case Services Officers.

 In the absence of the Specialist Finance, the responsibilities and duties will be undertaken 
by the Lead Specialist - Finance or other Finance Specialist (or officers authorised by the 
S151 Officer to act as temporary cover) supported by the rest of the Treasury Management 
team.

 
E. Dealing limits

 Currently there is a £6m upper limit in the total value of out-going CHAPS transactions in 
any one day without reference to the National Westminster Bank plc.  Transactions that will 
exceed the £6m limit will be referred back to the Treasury team for explanation.

 
F. List of approved brokers

 Martins Brokers (UK) plc, 25 Dowgate Hill, London, EC4R 2BB
 Kings and Shaxson, Cutlers Court, 115 Houndsditch, London, EC3A 7BR
 Tradition (UK) Ltd, Beaufort House, 15 St Botolph Street, London, EC3 7QA

G. Policy on brokers’ services

 It is the Council’s policy to utilise the services between at least two brokers. The Council will 
maintain a register of business between them in order to avoid relying on the services of 
any one broker.  Any changes to the list of approved brokers will not be made without prior 
consultation with the S151 Officer.

H. Policy on recording of conversations

 In line with good practice, all conversations relating to deals with either brokers or direct 
dealing institutions are recorded.  The recordings are to be kept for a minimum period of 
one year.

I. Direct dealing practices

 Direct dealing is carried out with institutions identified in the Operations Manual subject to 
counterparty and maturity limits and dealing limits.  Prior to undertaking direct dealing, the 
Council will ensure that each counterparty has been provided with the Council’s list of 
authorised dealers and the Council’s Standard Settlement Procedures.

J. Settlement transmission procedures

 The preferred method of transmitting information relating to deals is by email.  

K. Documentation requirements

 Copy of CHAPS form confirming transmission of funds to counterparty
 Broker/direct dealer documentation confirming counterparty, deal amount, maturity date 

and rate.
 
L. Arrangements concerning the management of third-party funds.

 The following funds are managed by South Somerset District Council:

Page 76



 Joint Burial Committee
 Dorcas House Trust
 ACI Chard Regeneration Scheme

However, there are small amounts of money held on behalf of third parties that have been held for 
many years.  These sums are immaterial and absorbed into the cash balances of the Council.  
There being no further interest payable, the principal will be repaid to the third party on the 
production of appropriate documentation.  

TMP 6: Reporting Requirements and Management information arrangements

Principle: The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the 
implementation of its treasury management policies; on the effects of decisions taken and 
transactions executed in pursuit of those policies; on the implications of changes, particularly 
budgetary, resulting from regulatory, economic, market or other factors affecting its treasury 
management activities; and on the performance of the treasury management function.

As a minimum, Full Council will receive:

a) An annual report on the strategy and plan to be pursued in the coming year
b) A mid-year review
c) An annual report on the performance of the treasury management function, on the effects 

of the decisions taken and the transactions executed in the past year, and on any 
circumstances of non-compliance with the organisation’s treasury management policy 
statement and TMPs.

In line with the Prudential Code 2017, Council may choose to delegate (b) and (c) to the Audit 
Committee (or other committee).

The Audit Committee will receive regular monitoring reports on treasury management activities, 
performance and risks usually in the form of the mid-year and annual reports subsequently 
presented to Full Council.

The Audit Committee will have responsibility for the scrutiny of treasury management policies, 
practices and performance.

Schedules:

A. Frequency of executive reporting requirements

 The responsible officer will annually submit budgets and will report on budget variations as 
appropriate.

 The responsible officer will submit the Treasury Strategy Statement (including Annual 
Investment Strategy) and report on the projected borrowing and investment strategy and 
activity for the forthcoming financial year to Full Council before the start of the year.

 A Mid-Year Treasury Report will be prepared by the responsible officer, which will report 
on treasury management activities for the first part of the financial year. The report will also 
provide a forecast for the current year. The Mid-Year Report will be submitted to Full 
Council during the year.

 The Annual Treasury Report will be prepared as soon as practicable after the financial 
year end.  

 All of the above reports will also be submitted to Audit Committee, who will be responsible 
for the scrutiny of treasury management policies and practices.

Page 77



B. Content of Reporting: 1. Prudential Indicators

 The Council will set the following Prudential Indicators, revise if necessary, and following 
the year end publish actual (where appropriate) in respect of:

 Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream (estimate; actual)
 Capital expenditure (estimate; actual)
 Capital Financing Requirement (estimates; actual)
 Authorised limit for external debt
 Operational boundary for external debt
 Actual external debt
 Upper and lower limits to maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing
 Upper limit to total of principal sums invested longer than 364 days.

 The Prudential Indicators are approved and revised by Full Council and are integrated into 
the Council’s overall financial planning and budget process. 

 
 The Audit Committee will also receive a copy of this report to carry out its scrutiny role of 

treasury management.

C. Content of Reporting: 2. Treasury Strategy Statement including the Annual Investment Strategy

 The Treasury Strategy Statement integrates with the Prudential Indicators being set and 
will include the following:

 Link to Capital Financing and Treasury Management Prudential Indicators for the 
current and ensuing three years

 Strategy for financing new borrowing requirements (if any) and refinancing maturing 
borrowing (if any) over the next three years and for restructuring of debt

 the extent to which surplus funds are earmarked for short term requirements
 the investment strategy for the forthcoming year(s)
 the minimum to be held in short term/specified investments during the coming year
 the interest rate outlook against which the treasury activities are likely to be 

undertaken.

Note: The MHCLG Investment Guidance 2018 requires the Council to prepare an annual 
Capital Strategy.  Most if not all Prudential Indicators will be included in the Capital Strategy 
which will be considered for approval in February.

 Based on the MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Authority Investments, the Council will produce 
an Annual Investment Strategy (AIS) which sets out 
 the objectives, policies and strategy for managing its investments; 
 the determination of which Specified and Non Specified Investments the Council will 

utilise during the forthcoming financial year(s) based on the Council’s economic and 
investment outlook and the expected level of investment balances; 

 the limits for the use of Non-Specified Investments.  

 The AIS will be integrated into the Treasury Strategy Statement.

 The Audit Committee will also receive a copy of this report to carry out its scrutiny role of 
treasury management.

D. Content of Reporting: 4. Mid-Year Treasury Report

Page 78



 The Finance Specialist will produce a mid-year report for Full Council on the borrowing and 
investment activities of the treasury management function (including performance of fund 
managers) for the first six months of the financial year.

 The main contents of the report will comprise:

 Economic background
 Economic forecast (including interest rates forecast)
 Treasury Management Strategy Statement update
 Performance versus benchmarks
 Borrowing information (including premature repayment, new loans information)
 Information on investments, including current lending list
 Prudential indicators relating to treasury management
 Governance framework and scrutiny arrangements

 The Audit Committee will also receive a copy of this report to carry out its scrutiny role of 
treasury management.

E. Content of Reporting: 3. Annual Treasury Report

 The Finance Specialist will produce an annual report for Full Council on all activities of the 
treasury management function as soon as practicable after year end and in all cases no 
later than 30 September of the succeeding financial year.

 The main contents of the report will comprise:

 confirmation that the Council calculated its budget requirements and set a balanced 
budget for the forward year;

 the prevailing economic environment 
 a commentary on treasury operations for the year, including their revenue effects;
 commentary on the risk implications of treasury activities undertaken and the future 

impact on treasury activities of the Council
 compliance with agreed policies/practices and statutory/regulatory requirements
 compliance with Prudential Indicators;
 performance measures.

 The Audit Committee will also receive a copy of this report to carry out its scrutiny role of 
treasury management.

F. Content and frequency of management information reports

 Management information reports will be prepared each quarter by the Finance Specialist 
and will be presented to the S151 Officer.

 These reports will contain the following information: -

 Summary cash flow forecasts
 Information on investment in Bonds, Certificates of Deposits and Treasury Bills.
 Details of in-house investments, including interest to date, benchmark rate and rate 

achieved, and forecast of interest for the remainder of the year.
 Details of fees payable.
 Current and forecast borrowing requirement, analysed between internal and external 

borrowing
 Forecast of surplus/deficit for the financial year against treasury budgets (interest costs 

and income).
 Narrative highlighting performance, opportunities, risks and any areas of concern or 

areas of note.

Page 79



TMP 7: Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements

Principle: The Responsible Officer will prepare, and the Council will approve and, if necessary, from 
time to time will amend, an annual budget for treasury management, which will bring together all of 
the costs involved in running the treasury management function, together with associated income.  
The matters to be included in the budget will at minimum be those required by statute or regulation, 
together with such information as will demonstrate compliance with TMP1 Risk management, TMP2 
Performance measurement, and TMP4 Approved instruments, methods and techniques.  The form 
which the Council’s budget will take is set out in the schedule below.  

The Responsible Officer will exercise effective controls over this budget, and will report upon and 
recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP6 Reporting requirements and 
management information arrangements.

The Council will account for its treasury management activities, for decisions made and 
transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards, and 
with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being.  The present form of the 
Council’s accounts is set out in the schedule. 

The Council will ensure that its auditors, and those charged with regulatory review, have access to 
all information and papers supporting the activities of the treasury management function as are 
necessary for the proper fulfilment of their roles, and that such information and papers demonstrate 
compliance with external and internal policies and approved practices.  The information made 
available under present arrangements is detailed below.

Schedule:

A. Statutory/regulatory requirements

 The framework for accounting in local government comes from the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the UK and related Guidance issued by CIPFA.

B. Proper accounting practice

 CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom constitutes 
“proper accounting practice under the terms of S21 (2) of the Local Government Act 2003”.

C. Financial Statements

 The Council’s financial statements are produced annually, reported to the Audit Committee 
for approval and published on the Council’s website. 

D. Treasury-related information requirements of external auditors

 The following information is specifically requested by the external auditor and should be 
considered an initial request for information. It is usually followed by more detailed audit 
testing work which often requires further information and/or explanations from the 
Council’s officers. Information in this context includes internally generated documents 
including those from the Council’s Treasury Management System, externally generated 
documents, observation of treasury management practices which support and explain the 
operation and activities of the treasury management function.

 Determination of Affordable Borrowing Limit under Section 3 of the Local Government 
Act 2003.

 Prudential Indicators.

Page 80



 Treasury Management Strategy including Annual Investment Strategy.

 Investments:

 Investment transactions during the year including any transaction-related costs
 Cash and bank balances at year end
 Short-term investments at year end
 Long-term investments at year end (including investments in associates and joint 

ventures) by asset type, including unrealised gains or losses at year end
 Calculation of (i) interest received (ii) accrued interest
 Actual interest received
 External fund manager valuations including investment income schedule and 

movement in capital values, transaction confirmations received (if any)
 Basis of valuation of investments
 Evidence of existence and title to investments (e.g. Custodian’s Reports
 Schedule of any investments in companies together with their latest financial 

statements); statement of transactions between the company and the Council.

 Cash Flow:

 Reconciliation of the movement in cash to the movement in net debt 
 Cash inflows and outflows (in respect of long-term financing)
 Cash inflows and outflows (in respect of purchase/sale of long-term investments)
 Net increase/decrease in (i) short-term loans (ii) short-term deposits (iii) other liquid 

resources

E. Internal Audit

 Internal Audit generally conducts an annual review of the treasury management function 
and probity testing, as one of the key control audits included in the Audit Plan. This may be 
reviewed less frequently if the level of assurance is “Substantial”.

 The internal auditors will be given access to treasury management 
information/documentation as required by them.

F. Compliance with CIPFA Treasury Management and Prudential Codes

 Auditors may require evidence/demonstration of compliance with external and internal 
treasury management policies and strategy.

 Any serious breach of the TM Code’s recommendations or Prudential Indicators should be 
brought to the attention of the external auditor.

TMP 8: Cash and cash flow management

Principle: Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands 
of the Council will be under the control of the responsible officer, and will be aggregated for cash 
flow and investment management purposes.  Cash flow projections will be prepared on a regular 
and timely basis, and the responsible officer will ensure that these are adequate for the purposes 
of monitoring compliance with TMP1 [2] liquidity risk management.  The present arrangements for 
preparing cash flow projections and their form are set out in the schedule below.

Schedules:

A. Arrangements for preparing /submitting cash flow statements

Page 81



 The Case Services Officer (JP) prepares the monthly cash flow statement and the daily 
cash flow statement in liaison with the Finance Specialist. Information from both 
statements is then used to plan investments and borrowing. The forecasts should be 
maintained for a minimum of six months ahead.

 The Finance Specialist also prepares a long-term cash flow forecast covering the current 
financial year and the next two financial years.

 The cash flow forecasts and statements are held at operational level.

 The accuracy and effectiveness of the Council’s cash flows are dependent on the accuracy 
of estimating expenditure, income and their corresponding time periods.

B. Content and frequency of cash flow projections

 The detailed annual cash flow model includes the following:
 revenue income and expenditure based on the budget as updated for known material 

variances.
 profiled capital income and expenditure as per the capital programme
 profiled collection fund tax revenues and distribution schedules

C. Monitoring, frequency of cash flow updates

 The annual cash flow statement is updated monthly with the actual cash inflows and 
outflows after taking account of any revisions including those relating to grant income and 
capital expenditure and will be reconciled with:
 net funding through Government Grants and business rates receipts and payments as 

notified; 
 rental income received from property portfolios; 
 income from loans supporting service outcomes;
 precept payments;
 actual salaries and other employee costs paid from account bank statements;
 actual payments to Inland Revenue from general account bank statements;
 actual council tax received
 actual rent allowances paid 
 actual housing benefit payments and subsidy income;
 actual capital programme expenditure and receipts.  

D. Bank statements procedures

 The Council has access to view bank statements on its banking system as required.   
These are reconciled to the general ledger on a monthly basis.

E. Payment scheduling

 Major payments to creditors are pre-arranged and usually bypass the normal creditors 
payment processing, ie they are paid via the CHAPS system.  Of the remaining creditors, 
statute requires that invoices are paid within 30 days of receipt. Current agreed practice is 
that invoices will be paid within 10 working days or in accordance with the creditor’s 
supplier terms, this is in line with the prompt payment code we have signed up to.

F. Monitoring debtor and creditor levels

 Debtor levels are monitored by a monthly Sundry Debtors Monitoring Report to the service 
managers which includes an analysis of debt by age.   

Page 82



 The level of Creditor invoices being processed is monitored on a monthly basis by the 
responsible staff within the Exchequer function. 

G. Banking of funds

 Instructions for the banking of income are set out in the Financial Regulations.  Cash and 
cheques received are banked daily. 

 Staff are advised of the requirement to bank on a regular basis in order to comply with 
recommended best practice and also remain within the particular insurance limits for the 
Council’s premises.

H. Listing of sources of information

 The treasury function receives cash flow information for the following:- 
 Government information eg NNDR/RSG/RSDG/NHB payments and dates
 Information from other outside bodies eg Somerset County Council precepts and dates
 Debtor payments
 Creditor payments
 Housing Benefit payments
 Direct Debit payments
 Monthly salaries & wages
 Capital Programme

I. Practices concerning prepayments to obtain benefits

 Income received in advance from debtors is credited to their respective account.  No 
interest or discount is given for early settlement.

TMP 9: Money Laundering

Background: The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002 consolidated, updated and reformed 
criminal law in the UK in relation to money laundering.  The principal offences relating to money 
laundering are:

 Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property from England 
and Wales, from Scotland or from Northern Ireland

 Being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows or suspects facilitates the 
acquisition, retention use or control of criminal property

 Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property.

Other offences include failure to disclose money laundering offences, tipping off a suspect either 
directly or indirectly, and doing something that might prejudice an investigation.

Organisations pursuing relevant businesses were required to appoint a nominated officer and 
implement internal reporting procedures; train relevant staff in the subject; establish internal 
procedures with respect to money laundering; obtain, verify and maintain evidence and records of 
the identity of new clients and transactions undertaken and report their suspicions.

In June 2017, the UK Government published the Money Laundering Regulations 2017, replacing 
previous regulations.

CIPFA believes that public sector organisations should “embrace the underlying principles behind 
the money laundering legislation and regulations and put in place anti money laundering policies, 
procedures and reporting arrangements appropriate and proportionate to their activities”.  

Page 83



Principle: The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to 
involve it in a transaction involving the laundering of money. Accordingly, it will maintain 
procedures for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties and reporting suspicions, and 
will ensure that staff members involved in this are properly trained. The present arrangements, 
including the name of the officer to whom reports should be made, are detailed in the schedule 
below.

Schedules:

A. Anti money laundering policy

 This Council’s policy is to prevent, wherever possible, the organisation and its staff being 
exposed to money laundering, to identify the potential areas where it may occur and to 
comply with all legal and regulatory requirements, especially with regard to the reporting of 
actual or suspected cases. 

 The Council has accepted responsibility to ensure that those of its staff who are most likely 
to be exposed to money laundering can make themselves fully aware of the law and, 
where necessary, are suitably trained.

B. Treasury documentation

 The Council will reflect the anti-laundering measures it has in place as part of its treasury 
documentation. Such measures include:
 Awareness of what constitutes money laundering
 The obligation to report knowledge of/having reasonable grounds to believe an offence 

might be committed
 Maintaining up-to-date direct dealing and SSI mandates with counterparties

C. Nomination of Responsible Officer

 The Council has nominated the Section 151 Officer to be the Money Laundering 
Responsible Officer (MLRO) to whom any suspicions relating to transactions involving the 
Council will be communicated.

 The responsible officer will be conversant with the requirement for the Proceeds of Crime 
Act 2002 and will ensure relevant staff are appropriately trained and informed so they are 
alert for suspicious transactions.

 The responsible officer will make arrangements to receive and manage the concerns of 
staff about money laundering and their suspicion of it, to make internal enquiries and to 
make reports, where necessary, to National Criminal Intelligence Services (NCIS).

D. Procedures for establishing the Identity of Lenders and Borrowers

 In the course of its treasury activities, the Council will only borrow from permitted sources 
identified in TMP 4.

 The Council will not accept loans from individuals. 

 In the course of its treasury activities, the Council will only invest with those counterparties 
which are on its approved lending list.

 The identity and authenticity of commercial institutions (banks, building societies and other 
financial institutions) authorised to carry out borrowing and lending activity in the UK will be 
checked via Bank of England/Prudential Regulation Authority’s website.

Page 84



 All receipts/disbursements of funds will be undertaken by CHAPS settlement.

 Direct Dealing mandates: The Council will provide (in the case of lending) / obtain (in the 
case of borrowing) and maintain on file dealing mandates with any new money market 
counterparty.  The mandates should be on letter-headed paper, dated and signed.  

 All banking transactions will only be undertaken by the staff authorised to operate the 
Council’s banks accounts.

 If the Council takes/provides loans from individuals, it will establish robust procedures for 
verifying and recording the appropriate financial and personal information of such 
individuals.

 When receiving request for change of payment details, due care will be exercised to 
ascertain the bona fide of the request and avoid potential fraud.  Additional checks will be 
made through pre-existing contact details for the payee before altering payment details.

TMP 10: Training and qualifications

Principle: The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the treasury 
management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated to 
them. It will therefore seek to appoint individuals who are both capable and experienced and will 
provide training for staff to enable them to acquire and maintain an appropriate level of expertise, 
knowledge and skills.  The Lead Specialist – Finance will recommend and implement the 
necessary arrangements.

The responsible officer will ensure that Council members tasked with treasury management 
responsibilities, including those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to their 
needs and responsibilities.

Those charged with governance recognise their individual responsibility to ensure that they have 
the necessary skills to complete their role effectively.

Schedule:

A. Qualifications/ experience for treasury staff

 CCAB part or fully qualified
 Member of the Association of Accounting Technicians part or fully qualified

B. Details of approved training courses

The courses/events the Council would expect its treasury staff to consider are 
 Certificate in International Treasury Management – Public Finance
 Training courses for Accounting, Auditing, Best Value/Competition, Budgeting, Capital 

Finance & Borrowing, Financial Management run by CIPFA and IPF
 Any courses/seminars run by Treasury Management Consultants/Advisors.
 Attending CIPFA Conference
 Training attended by those responsible for scrutiny of the treasury function

Records of training received by treasury staff

 The Council participates in the CIPFA/ACCA/CIMA Employer Accreditation Schemes for 
CPD purposes which is based on planning, recording and evaluating development. 
Employees are required to register with the scheme and declare participation in the CPD 
scheme annually. 

Page 85



TMP 11: Use of external service providers

Principle: The Council recognises that responsibility for the treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times. It recognises the potential value of employing external 
providers of treasury management services, in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources.  When it employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for reasons which will 
have been submitted to a full evaluation of the costs and benefits.  It will also ensure that the terms 
of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed 
and documented, and subjected to regular review. And it will ensure, where feasible and 
necessary, that a spread of service providers is used, to avoid over reliance on one or a small 
number of companies.  Where services are subject to formal tender or re-tender arrangements, 
legislative requirements will always be observed.  The monitoring of such arrangements rests with 
the responsible officer, and details of the current arrangements are set out in the schedule below.

Schedule:

A. Banking services

 Service provided by: National Westminster Bank plc
 Contract commenced 1/10/14 and runs until 31/3/20.
 Payments due quarterly in arrears and monthly for the electronic banking service.
 Terms for early termination of the contract: The organisation may terminate the 

agreement at any time by 3 months’ written notice to the Manager and the Manager 
may terminate the agreement on 3 months’ written notice to the organisation.

B. Money-broking services

 Service Providers :-  
 Martin Brokers (UK) plc
 Kings and Shaxson
 Tradition UK

C. Cash/fund management services

 None

D. Consultants’/advisers’ services

 Name of supplier of service – Arlingclose Ltd.
 Contract commenced 1 March 2015 1 July 2019 and expires on 28th February 2018 30 

June 2022, with the option to extend for a further two years in accordance with the 
relevant terms of the agreement

 Payments due annually on 1 April July
 Terms for early termination of the contract:  The Council may terminate the agreement 

by giving three months’ notice. after 28th February 2018

E. Bribery Act

 The Council is mindful of the requirements of the Bribery Act 2011 in its dealings with 
external providers.

Page 86



TMP 12: Corporate governance

Principle: The Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout its 
businesses and services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can be 
achieved.  Accordingly, the treasury management function and its activities will be undertaken with 
openness and transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability.

The Council applies the key recommendations of the Treasury Management Code of Practice. 
This, together with the other arrangements detailed in the schedule below, are considered vital to 
the achievement of proper corporate governance in treasury management, and the responsible 
officer will monitor and, if and when necessary, report upon the effectiveness of these 
arrangements.

Schedule:

A. List of documents to be made available for public inspection.

 Annual Statement of Accounts
 Treasury Management Policy
 Treasury Management Strategy
 Budget Reports
 Budget Monitoring Reports
 Annual and Half-Year Treasury Report
 Council Committee Agendas and Minutes

B. Council’s website

 Financial information is additionally available on the Council’s website

C. Procedures for consultation with stakeholders

 Members and senior officers of the Council are consulted via reports to Senior Leadership 
Team, Leadership Meeting, District Executive and officer/member briefing sessions. 

TMP13: Non-Treasury Management Investments

Principle: The Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property 
primarily for financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful 
investment management. Such activity includes loans supporting service outcomes, 
investments in subsidiaries, and investment property portfolios.

The Council will ensure that all of its investments are covered in the capital strategy (to be 
produced in February 2019), investment strategy or equivalent, and will set out, where 
relevant, the organisation’s risk appetite and specific policies and arrangements for non-
treasury investments. It will be recognised that the risk appetite for these activities may 
differ from that for treasury management.

Schedule:

 A published schedule agreed by Council setting out the organisation’s investment 
management practices for non-treasury investments will be complied with by all officers 
responsible for such investments.

Page 87



 A schedule setting out a summary of existing material investments, subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and liabilities including financial guarantees and the Council’s risk exposure.

 CIPFA suggests that authorities should replicate TMP 1-12 under the TMP for non-treasury 
management investments, as far as this is relevant, practicable and applicable. It particularly 
listed TMPs 1, 2, 5, 6, and 10.  Details of the relevant TMP’s are below: -

 Risk management (TMP1) including investment and risk management criteria for 
material non-treasury investment portfolios

 Performance management (TMP2) including methodology and criteria for assessing 
the performance and success of non-treasury investments

 Decision-making and analysis (TMP5) including a statement of the governance 
requirements for decision-making in relation to non-treasury investments, and 
arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to 
support decision making

 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements (TMP6) including 
where and how often monitoring reports are taken

 Training and qualifications (TMP10) including how the relevant knowledge and skills in 
relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged.

Page 88



Audit Committee Forward Plan

Lead Officer: Becky Sanders, Case Officer
Contact Details: becky.sanders@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462596

Purpose of the Report

This report informs Members of the agreed Audit Committee Forward Plan.

Recommendation 

Members are asked to comment upon and note the proposed Audit Committee Forward Plan as 
attached.

Audit Committee Forward Plan 

The forward plan sets out items and issues to be discussed over the coming few months and is 
reviewed annually. 

Items marked in italics are not yet confirmed. 

Background Papers: None

Page 89

Agenda Item 11



Audit Committee Forward Plan

Meeting 
Date

Item Responsible Officer

External Audit – Certification of Housing benefit 
Subsidy Claim

Finance Specialist (GT)

Annual Fraud Programme Update Legal Specialist
Local Code of Corporate Governance Section151 Officer

28 Nov 19

Update to SSDC Risk Framework Procurement Specialist
Internal Audit Plan Progress Q3 Alastair Woodland (SWAP)23 Jan 20
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 20/21 
(needs to go on to Full Council)

Finance Specialist

Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 - approve 2020/21 plan Alastair Woodland (SWAP)
Internal Audit – Charter Alastair Woodland (SWAP)
External Audit Plan for 2019/20 Accounts Finance Specialist (GT)
External Audit Progress Report 2019/20 Accounts Finance Specialist (GT)
Annual Fraud Programme Update Legal Specialist
Health and Safety Update Report Director (Strategy & Support Services)
Civil Contingency update Director (Strategy & Support Services)

26 Mar 20

Whistleblowing update Director (Strategy & Support Services)

Page 90


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Internal Audit Annual Activity Report 2019/20
	8 External Audit - Annual Audit Letter
	SSDC Annual Audit Letter 2018-19

	9 2019/20 Treasury Management Mid-Year Performance Report and Strategy Update
	Treasury Management Mid Year Review App 1

	10 Treasury Management Practices
	Treasury Management Practices 2019

	11 Audit Committee Forward Plan
	Forward Plan


